PREPARED FOR SUBMISSION TO JCAP

Isocurvature initial conditions for second order Boltzmann solvers

Pedro Carrilho and Karim A. Malik

Astronomy Unit, School of Physics and Astronomy, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, London, E1 4NS, UK

E-mail: p.gregorio carrilho@qmul.ac.uk, k.malik@qmul.ac.uk

Abstract. We study how to set the initial evolution of general cosmological fluctuations at second order, after neutrino decoupling. We compute approximate initial solutions for the transfer functions of all the relevant cosmological variables sourced by quadratic combinations of adiabatic and isocurvature modes. We perform these calculations in synchronous gauge, assuming a Universe described by the Λ CDM model and composed of neutrinos, photons, baryons and dark matter. We highlight the importance of mixed modes, which are sourced by two different isocurvature or adiabatic modes and do not exist at the linear level. In particular, we investigate the so-called compensated isocurvature mode and find non-trivial initial evolution when it is mixed with the adiabatic mode, in contrast to the result at linear order and even at second order for the unmixed mode. Non-trivial evolution also arises when this compensated isocurvature is mixed with the neutrino density isocurvature mode. Regarding the neutrino velocity isocurvature mode, we show it unavoidably generates non-regular (decaying) modes at second order. Our results can be applied to second order Boltzmann solvers to calculate the effects of isocurvatures on non-linear observables.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Cosmological perturbation theory	3
	2.1 Evolution equations	5
3	Differential System	7
4	Definition of isocurvature basis	9
5	Approximate initial time evolution	13
	5.1 Pure adiabatic mode	15
	5.2 Pure cold dark matter isocurvature mode	16
	5.3 Mixture of adiabatic and cold dark matter modes	16
	5.4 Pure baryon isocurvature mode	17
	5.5 Mixture of baryon and cold dark matter modes	18
	5.6 Mixture of adiabatic and baryon modes	19
	5.7 Pure neutrino density isocurvature mode	20
	5.8 Mixture of adiabatic and neutrino modes	21
	5.9 Mixture of dark matter and neutrino modes	22
	5.10 Mixture of baryon and neutrino modes	23
6	Conclusion	24
\mathbf{A}	Gauge transformations to Poisson gauge	25
	A.1 Pure adiabatic mode	28
	A.2 Pure cold dark matter isocurvature mode	29
	A.3 Mixture of adiabatic and cold dark matter modes	29
	A.4 Pure baryon isocurvature mode	30
	A.5 Mixture of baryon and cold dark matter modes	31
	A.6 Mixture of adiabatic and baryon modes	32
	A.7 Mixture of adiabatic and compensated modes	32
	A.8 Pure neutrino density isocurvature mode	33
	A.9 Mixture of adiabatic and neutrino modes	33
	A.10 Mixture of dark matter and neutrino modes	34
	A.11 Mixture of baryon and neutrino modes	35
	A.12 Mixture of compensated and neutrino modes	36
в	Liouville equation in terms of brightness tensors	36

1 Introduction

The importance of understanding the early Universe cannot be overstated. It would not only provide us with some insight into the complete history of the Universe, but would also allow one to probe new physics at energy scales beyond the capabilities of any other exploration method. However, the fact that the early Universe is not directly observable complicates

its understanding considerably, since the only properties that can be accurately probed are the initial conditions for the stage in which the laws of physics are known. It is those initial conditions for the radiation dominated era that contain information about the state and evolution of the early Universe and it is through the measurement of their statistical properties that one can distinguish different models of the earliest epochs.

Observations of CMB anisotropies measured by the Planck satellite [1], as well as measurements of the Large Scale Structure on complementary scales [2, 3], indicate the initial conditions to be adiabatic up to the uncertainty of the experiments [4]. The measured properties of this adiabatic mode have shown it to have a nearly scale invariant power spectrum and undetectably small non-Gaussianity [5]. This has provided strong support for inflation, which generally predicts such adiabatic initial conditions to have nearly scale invariant properties.

However, many models of inflation with multiple fields, such as the curvaton model [6–8], also predict the existence of non-adiabatic modes [9, 10], which, if measured in the future, would be essential in distinguishing different inflationary scenarios. Furthermore, there are certain non-adiabatic modes that can escape detection by conventional means. These are the so-called compensated isocurvature modes [11–14], which evade most of the constraints at the linear level by not producing an overall matter isocurvature mode. They are also conjectured to contribute to the flattening of the peaks of the CMB angular power spectrum for short scales, being degenerate with lensing [13, 14]. Non-Gaussianity has remained undetected so far, and it is conceivable that it exists at similar levels for both adiabatic and non-adiabatic modes [15–17]. In summary, non-adiabatic modes are still observationally relevant and their detection could open new windows into the physics of the early Universe.

Linear isocurvature modes have been the subject of many studies in the literature due to their potential to reveal more about the early universe [18–20]. One of the first works on the general initial fluctuations was by Bucher, Moodley and Turok [21], which defined the initial conditions after neutrino decoupling for a system with massless neutrinos, baryons, dark matter and photons. This was further extended to include more species such as primordial magnetic fields [22, 23] and massive neutrinos [24]. Among other results, these works defined the different isocurvature modes and calculated the initial evolution for a set of variables at first order in cosmological perturbation theory. This was then applied in a variety of Einstein-Boltzmann solvers [25–27] and later to the WMAP and Planck data to constrain isocurvature modes.

As observational efforts move towards increasing precision, new observables will become available, whose predictions require calculations at non-linear orders in perturbation theory. Examples include the intrinsic bispectrum [28–30], magnetic field generation during the prerecombination era [31–34] and vorticity production [35–38]. In order to compute some of these observables, the initial evolution at second order for adiabatic modes has been calculated [28–30]. However, these observables could also receive a sizeable contribution from isocurvature modes, in particular if the isocurvature spectrum is strongly blue or has features [39]. This is relevant also because of the mode mixing that occurs at non-linear orders in perturbation theory, which allows for an adiabatic mode to mix with an isocurvature one and generate contributions which are not present at linear order. These contributions should be the largest ones that involve isocurvatures at second order and should be the easiest to constrain or detect. These are the reasons that motivate us to investigate isocurvature modes at second order in a systematic way.

In this paper, we calculate the initial evolution of cosmological fluctuations at second or-

der in the presence of isocurvature modes. These calculations are essential for initializing Boltzmann codes at second order [30] and thus to calculate observables with the required accuracy for comparing with experiment. We begin in Section 2 with the definitions and conventions we use in the remainder of the paper. In Section 3, we describe the general differential system under study and how to split its perturbative solutions into different modes. After that, we introduce a clear definition of the isocurvature basis in Section 4 as used in previous literature and present our results for the initial time evolution in synchronous gauge in Section 5. We then discuss our results and conclude in Section 6. We also consider gauge transformations and calculate the specific transformation of our results into Poisson gauge in appendix A and discuss the Liouville equation at second order in appendix B.

2 Cosmological perturbation theory

In this first section, we introduce our notation and conventions for the metric and stressenergy tensors that will be used in the rest of the paper. We follow most of the notation of Ref. [40], except for the coefficient of the tensor mode in the definition of the metric, as is clear in Eq. (2.5) below.

All quantities, T, are expanded as

$$T = T^{(0)} + \delta T^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2}\delta T^{(2)} + \dots, \qquad (2.1)$$

with the superscript denoting the order in perturbation theory. We drop the 0th order superscript for simplicity of presentation.

We assume an FLRW background spacetime with zero spatial curvature throughout the paper, and use conformal time. Greek indices, μ, ν, λ , etc., range from 0 to 3, while lower case Latin indices, i, j, k, denote spatial indices ranging from 1 to 3.

The metric tensor can be split in several different ways, which vary in the way the spatial part of the metric is arranged [41]. The version that we will use in the calculations below takes the following form, at all orders

$$g_{00} = -a^2 \left(1 + 2\phi\right) \,, \tag{2.2}$$

$$g_{i0} = a^2 \left(B_{,i} - S_i \right) \,, \tag{2.3}$$

$$g_{ij} = a^2 \left(\delta_{ij} + 2C_{ij} \right) ,$$
 (2.4)

in which ϕ is the perturbation to the lapse, B and S_i are, respectively, the scalar and vector parts of the shift and C_{ij} is the perturbation to the spatial part of the metric, which is further split as

$$C_{ij} = -\psi \delta_{ij} + E_{,ij} + F_{(i,j)} + h_{ij}, \qquad (2.5)$$

in which ψ is the curvature perturbation, E and F_i are, respectively, the scalar and vector potentials of the traceless part of the spatial metric and h_{ij} is the tensor potential, usually understood to represent gravitational waves.

As for the total stress-energy tensor, we choose the so-called energy frame to represent it $[42, 43]^1$, and include anisotropic stress:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (P+\rho) u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + Pg_{\mu\nu} + \pi_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.6)$$

¹This frame is defined by the condition that the 4-velocity, u^{μ} , is an eigenvector of $T_{\mu\nu}$, with eigenvalue ρ . This is equivalent to setting the energy flux, q^{μ} , to zero.

with

$$\pi^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = 0, \text{ and } \pi_{\mu\nu} u^{\mu} = 0.$$
 (2.7)

The perturbative expansion is the standard one, as given in Ref. [40] and in Ref. [41] for $\pi_{\mu\nu}$. We reproduce here the scalar-vector-tensor (SVT) splitting of $\pi_{ij}^{(1)}$,

$$\pi_{ij}^{(1)} = a^2 \left[\Pi_{ij}^{(1)} + \Pi_{(i,j)}^{(1)} + \Pi_{,ij}^{(1)} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{ij} \nabla^2 \Pi^{(1)} \right], \qquad (2.8)$$

where the quantities Π , Π_i and Π_{ij} are, respectively, the scalar, vector and tensor parts of the linear piece of the anisotropic stress tensor. We also define the variable σ , at all orders,

$$\sigma^{(i)} = -\frac{1}{2\rho} \nabla^2 \Pi^{(i)} \,, \tag{2.9}$$

which is more appropriate here as it is more directly linked to the conventions used in the literature and, as we shall see below, has growing mode solutions.

The stage of the evolution of the Universe we study in this work is the radiation dominated epoch at the time following neutrino decoupling. At this stage, (in the Λ CDM model) there are four matter species that are present in the Universe, namely, neutrinos (ν), photons (γ), baryons (b) and cold dark matter (c). We construct the total stress-energy tensor by adding those of each species, labelled by the index s,

$$T^{\alpha\beta} = \sum_{s} T_{s}^{\alpha\beta} , \qquad (2.10)$$

which are given by

$$T_c^{\alpha\beta} = \rho_c u_c^{\alpha} u_c^{\beta} \,, \tag{2.11}$$

$$T_b^{\alpha\beta} = \rho_b u_b^{\alpha} u_b^{\beta} \,, \tag{2.12}$$

$$T^{\alpha\beta}_{\gamma} = \frac{4}{3}\rho_{\gamma}u^{\alpha}_{\gamma}u^{\beta}_{\gamma} + \frac{1}{3}\rho_{\gamma}g^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.13)$$

$$T_{\nu}^{\alpha\beta} = \frac{4}{3}\rho_{\nu}u_{\nu}^{\alpha}u_{\nu}^{\beta} + \frac{1}{3}\rho_{\gamma}g^{\alpha\beta} + \pi_{\nu}^{\alpha\beta}.$$
 (2.14)

It is clear from these expressions that only neutrinos have anisotropic stress, as it is assumed that photons are tightly coupled with baryons at this time and dark matter is too cold to have appreciable anisotropic stress. We thus set it to zero. Note as well that all species have been written in their specific energy frames given by each 4-velocity vector u_s^{α} . This implies that the calculation of the total fluid quantities, such as the total energy density, is not a simple sum of those variables defined in each frame. We perform this calculation by projecting the stress-energy tensors of each species into a global energy frame, labelled by the 4-velocity vector u^{μ} . After this change of frame, we find the total energy density, pressure and anisotropic stress are given by

$$\rho = \gamma_c^2 \rho_c + \gamma_b^2 \rho_b + \frac{1}{3} \left(4\gamma_\gamma^2 - 1 \right) \rho_\gamma + \frac{1}{3} \left(4\gamma_\nu^2 - 1 \right) \rho_\nu + \pi_\nu^{\alpha\beta} u_\alpha u_\beta , \qquad (2.15)$$

$$P = \frac{1}{3} (\gamma_c^2 - 1) \rho_c + \frac{1}{3} (\gamma_b^2 - 1) \rho_b + \frac{1}{9} (4\gamma_\gamma^2 - 1) \rho_\gamma + \frac{1}{9} (4\gamma_\nu^2 - 1) \rho_\nu + \frac{1}{3} \pi_\nu^{\alpha\beta} u_\alpha u_\beta, \quad (2.16)$$

$$\pi^{\alpha\beta} = \pi_{\nu}^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{3} (g^{\alpha\beta} + 4u^{\alpha}u^{\beta}) \pi_{\nu}^{\mu\lambda} u_{\mu} u_{\lambda} + \sum_{s} (1+w_{s}) \left(\frac{1}{3} (1-\gamma_{s}^{2})g^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{3} (1-4\gamma_{s}^{2})u^{\alpha}u^{\beta} + u_{s}^{\alpha}u_{s}^{\beta} \right) \rho_{s} , \qquad (2.17)$$

while the 4-velocity of the energy frame can be related to that of each fluid by solving the following equation for u^{α} :

$$\sum_{s} (1+w_s)\rho_s \gamma_s (u_s^{\alpha} - \gamma_s u^{\alpha}) - \pi_{\nu}^{\alpha\beta} u_{\beta} - \pi_{\nu}^{\mu\beta} u_{\mu} u_{\beta} u^{\alpha} = 0, \qquad (2.18)$$

which is obtained from the energy frame condition, i.e. by setting the momentum transfer vector q^{α} to zero. In the absence of neutrino anisotropic stress, one would find the following solution for u^{α} :

$$u^{\alpha} = \frac{\sum_{s} (1+w_{s})\rho_{s}\gamma_{s}u_{s}^{\alpha}}{\sum_{s} (1+w_{s})\rho_{s}\gamma_{s}^{2}}.$$
(2.19)

This result is still correct at first order, but is not sufficient at second order. In all expressions above, $w_s = P_s/\rho_s$ is the equation of state parameter and γ_s is the Lorentz factor for changing between the energy frame and each species', which is given by

$$\gamma_s = -u_s^\lambda u_\lambda. \tag{2.20}$$

All these equations are fully covariant and are therefore valid at all orders in perturbation theory. In the following we will use them at second order.

2.1 Evolution equations

To describe the evolution of this system we assume Einstein gravity,

$$G^{\alpha\beta} = 8\pi G T^{\alpha\beta} \,, \tag{2.21}$$

and describe the evolution of each fluid by:

$$\nabla_{\beta} T_{\gamma}^{\alpha\beta} = C_{\gamma b}^{\alpha} \,, \tag{2.22}$$

$$\nabla_{\beta} T_{\nu}^{\alpha\beta} = 0, \qquad (2.23)$$

$$\nabla_{\beta} T_b^{\alpha\beta} = -C_{\gamma b}^{\alpha} \,, \tag{2.24}$$

$$\nabla_{\beta} T_c^{\alpha\beta} = 0. \qquad (2.25)$$

where we have included the interaction of photons with baryons, represented by $C^{\alpha}_{\gamma b}$. However, we will assume the tight coupling approximation (TCA) is valid, which means that the velocity of the photons and baryons is equal. For the case of the neutrinos, we also introduce an equation for the anisotropic stress, which is derived from the Liouville equation. We shall write these equations below in their perturbed versions. We write only the second order equations as the first order ones can be obtained straightforwardly by setting all the non-linear terms to zero. Furthermore, we write all equations in the synchronous gauge, since that is the gauge we will use in most of the paper. We also include only scalars as we are only studying second-order scalar modes sourced by first-order scalars. We leave the study of vector and tensor modes for future work.

We begin by writing the field equations for the two scalar potentials available in synchronous gauge. The only ones we require are the constraint equations, given by

$$\nabla^{2}\psi + \mathcal{H}\nabla^{2}E' - 3\mathcal{H}\psi' - \frac{3}{2}\mathcal{H}^{2}\sum_{s}\Omega_{s}\delta_{s} = 6\mathcal{H}\psi\psi' - \frac{3}{2}(\psi')^{2} - 4\psi\nabla^{2}\psi - \frac{3}{2}\psi_{,i}\psi^{,i}$$
$$- 2(\psi\nabla^{2}E)' + \psi'\nabla^{2}E' + \nabla^{2}E_{,i}\psi^{,i} + \nabla^{2}E\nabla^{2}\psi + \psi_{,ij}E^{,ij} - \frac{1}{4}\nabla^{2}E'\nabla^{2}E' \qquad (2.26)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{4}\nabla^{2}E_{,i}\nabla^{2}E^{,i} + 2\mathcal{H}E'_{,ij}E^{,ij} + \frac{1}{4}E'_{,ij}E'^{,ij} - \frac{1}{4}E_{,ijk}E^{,ijk} + \frac{3}{2}\mathcal{H}^{2}\sum_{s}(1+w_{s})\Omega_{s}v_{s,i}v_{s}^{,i},$$

$$\psi' - \frac{3}{2}\mathcal{H}^{2}\sum_{s}(1+w_{s})\Omega_{s}v_{s} = -2(\psi\nabla^{2}\psi)' - 4\psi'_{,i}\psi^{,i} + \nabla^{2}E'_{,i}\psi^{,i} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla^{2}E'\nabla^{2}\psi$$

+ $\nabla^{2}E\nabla^{2}\psi' + \psi'_{,ij}E^{,ij} + \frac{1}{2}\psi_{,ij}E'^{,ij} + \frac{1}{2}\nabla^{2}E'_{,i}\nabla^{2}E^{,i} - \frac{1}{2}E'_{,ijk}E^{,ijk}$ (2.27)
- $\frac{3}{4}\mathcal{H}^{2}\sum_{s}\Omega_{s}(1+w_{s})\left[2\left((\delta_{s}-2\psi)v^{,i}_{s}\right)_{,i} + (v_{s,i}E^{,ij})_{,j}\right]$
- $\Omega_{\nu}\mathcal{H}^{2}\left[(\sigma_{\nu}v^{,i}_{\nu})_{,i} - 3(\nabla^{-2}\sigma^{,ij}_{\nu}v_{\nu,i})_{,j}\right],$

in which $\Omega_s = 8\pi G \rho_s/3H^2$ is the standard density parameter for each species, δ_s in the density contrast for each species, defined by $\delta_s = \delta \rho_s/\rho_s$, v_s is the corresponding velocity fluctuation and σ_{ν} represents the scalar part of the neutrino anisotropic stress. The energy conservation equations for the fluids are given by

$$\delta'_{s} - (1 + w_{s}) \left(3\psi' - \nabla^{2}(E' + v_{s}) \right) = 2(1 + w_{s}) \left(3\psi\psi' - (\psi\nabla^{2}E)' + E'_{,ij}E^{,ij} \right) + \delta_{s}\delta'_{s} - (1 + w_{s})v_{s}^{,i} \left(2v'_{s,i} + \delta_{s,i} - 3\psi_{,i} + \nabla^{2}E_{,i} + (1 - 3w_{s})\mathcal{H}v_{s,i} \right) + \frac{2}{3}\delta^{\nu}_{s} \left[2\sigma_{\nu,i}v_{\nu}^{,i} - \sigma_{\nu}\nabla^{2}(E' + v_{\nu}) + 3\nabla^{-2}\sigma_{\nu,ij}(E' + v_{\nu})^{,ij} \right],$$
(2.28)

where we have assumed that each fluid has a constant equation of state and have aggregated all possible cases for the four species under study. δ_s^{ν} , appearing the last line of Eq (2.28), is the Kronecker delta symbol and is unrelated to the density contrast.

Concerning the momentum conservation equations, we only have to write them for the neutrinos and the photon-baryon plasma. This is due to having chosen the synchronous gauge, which allows one to set the cold dark matter velocity to zero to fix the residual gauge conditions. Furthermore, since we assume the TCA is valid, there is only one equation for the common velocity of photons and baryons, $v_{b\gamma}$. This equation is obtained by summing the two momentum conservation equations for baryons and photons and is given by

$$\nabla^{2} \left[(3\Omega_{b} + 4\Omega_{\gamma})v_{b\gamma}' + \Omega_{\gamma}\delta_{\gamma} + 3\Omega_{b}\mathcal{H}v_{b\gamma} \right] = -4\Omega_{\gamma} \left(\delta_{\gamma}v_{b\gamma}'^{,i} \right)_{,i} - 3\Omega_{b} \left(\delta_{b}v_{b\gamma}'^{,i} \right)_{,i} + v_{b\gamma}^{,i} \left[\Omega_{\gamma} \left(4\psi_{,i} - \frac{20}{3}\nabla^{2}E_{,i}' - \frac{8}{3}\nabla^{2}v_{b\gamma,i} \right) + \Omega_{b} \left(6\psi_{,i} - 6\nabla^{2}E_{,i}' - 3\nabla^{2}v_{b\gamma,i} - 3\mathcal{H}\delta_{b,i} \right) \right] - 2\Omega_{\gamma} \left(\psi\delta_{\gamma}^{,i} - E^{,ij}\delta_{\gamma,j} \right)_{,i} + \nabla^{2}v_{b\gamma} \left[\Omega_{\gamma} \left(4\psi' + \frac{4}{3}\nabla^{2}E' + \frac{4}{3}\nabla^{2}v_{b\gamma} \right) + \Omega_{b} \left(6\psi' - \frac{1}{2}\delta_{b} \right) \right] - v_{b\gamma}^{,ij} \left(4\Omega_{\gamma} + 3\Omega_{b} \right) \left(2E_{,ij}' + v_{b\gamma,ij} \right) , \qquad (2.29)$$

while the one for neutrinos is given by

$$\nabla^{2} \left[v_{\nu}' + \frac{1}{4} \delta_{\nu} + \sigma_{\nu} \right] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta_{\gamma}^{i} (E_{,ij} - \psi \delta_{ij}) - v_{b\gamma}^{ii} (4E_{,ij} + 2v_{b\gamma,ij}) \right)^{,j} - \left((\delta_{\nu}' - 5\psi' + \nabla^{2}E' + \nabla^{2}v_{\nu})v_{\nu}^{,i} - \delta_{\nu}v_{\nu}^{\prime,i} \right)_{,i}$$

$$+ \left(\psi \sigma_{\nu,i} + \frac{1}{2} \psi_{,i} \sigma_{\nu} - \frac{3}{2} \psi^{,j} \nabla^{-2} \sigma_{\nu,ij} - \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_{\nu} v_{\nu,i} - 3v_{\nu}^{,j} \nabla^{-2} \sigma_{\nu,ij})' \right)^{,i}$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{2}{3} \nabla^{2} E \sigma_{\nu,i} + E_{,ij} \sigma_{\nu}^{,j} - \frac{4}{3} \nabla^{2} E_{,i} \sigma_{\nu} + 5E^{,jk} \nabla^{-2} \sigma_{\nu,ijk} + 4 \nabla^{2} E^{,j} \nabla^{-2} \sigma_{\nu,ij} \right)^{,i}$$

$$(2.30)$$

and

The equation for σ_{ν} is derived from the Liouville equation, as explained in Appendix B, following most of the conventions of Ref. [30]. In synchronous gauge, that equation is given by

$$\Delta_{T\,ij}' + \left(\Delta_{T\,ijk,l} - \frac{1}{5} \left(\frac{2}{3} \delta_{ij} \delta_k^r - \delta_{kj} \delta_i^r - \delta_{ik} \delta_j^r\right) \Delta_{r,l}\right) (\delta^{kl} - C^{kl}) - \Delta_T^{ijkl} E_{,kl}'$$

$$- 4\Delta_{T\,ij} \psi' - \frac{10}{21} \delta^{ij} \Delta_T^{kl} E_{,kl}' + \frac{1}{7} \left(6\Delta_T^{ij} \nabla^2 E' + 5\Delta_T^{ki} E_{,k}'^{,j} + 5\Delta_T^{kj} E_{,k}'^{,i}\right) + \frac{8}{15} \Delta_0 E'^{,ij}$$

$$- \frac{8}{45} \Delta_0 \delta^{ij} \nabla^2 E' - \left(4\Delta_T^{\ k}_{\ ij} + \frac{1}{5} \left(\frac{2}{3} \delta_{ij} \delta^{ks} - \delta_j^k \delta_i^s - \delta_i^k \delta_j^s\right) \Delta_s\right) \psi_{,k}$$

$$+ \frac{8}{15} \left[C^{ij} - C_k^i C^{kj} - \frac{1}{3} \delta^{ij} (C_k^k - C_{kl} C^{kl})\right]' = 0,$$
(2.31)

in which the Δ variables are perturbations to the different moments of the distribution function of neutrinos and are called here brightness tensors. Their expressions are given in detail in appendix **B**. While the third and higher rank tensors are defined solely in terms of the integrals of the distribution function, the first three can be related to the stress-energy tensor as follows:

$$\Delta_0 = -\frac{\delta T_{\nu \ 0}^{\ 0}}{\rho_{\nu}}, \qquad (2.32)$$

$$\Delta^{i} = -\frac{T_{\nu \ 0}^{\ j}}{\rho_{\nu}} (\delta^{i}_{j} + C^{i}_{j}), \qquad (2.33)$$

$$\Delta_{T_{j}^{i}}^{i} = \frac{1}{\rho_{\nu}} \left(T_{\nu l}^{k} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_{l}^{k} T_{\nu r}^{r} \right) \left(\delta_{j}^{l} \delta_{k}^{i} + \delta_{j}^{l} E_{,k}^{,i} - \delta_{k}^{i} E_{,j}^{,l} \right) , \qquad (2.34)$$

in which ρ_{ν} is the background neutrino energy density. Because we are only dealing with scalar modes, we compute the scalar part of Eq. (2.31) by applying the differential operator $\partial^i \partial^j$. Due to its complexity, we refrain from showing the final evolution equation for σ_{ν} here. It can be calculated straightforwardly from the scalar equation by using the conversion from the scalar part of $\Delta_T^i_i$ to σ_{ν} shown at the end of appendix B.

This concludes the description of the evolution equations. In the next sections we will describe this differential system in general and provide details about its formal solution.

3 Differential System

It is straightforward to show, after applying a Fourier transform, that the differential system presented in the previous section can be described by the following generic equation at any specific non-background order:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\tau}X = Q(\tau)\,,\tag{3.1}$$

in which \mathcal{D}_{τ} is a **linear** differential operator, X is a vector including all the variables to evolve and $Q(\tau)$ includes all the non-linear terms, which act as a source at orders higher than the first, while at the linear level we have $Q^{(1)} = 0$, by definition. For example, at second order, the source term is a convolution of squares of the first order (or linear) solutions,

$$Q^{(2)}(\tau,k) \supset \int_{q} X^{(1)}(\vec{q}-\vec{k})X^{(1)}(\vec{q}), \qquad (3.2)$$

in which we introduce the notation

$$\int_{q} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{3}q}{(2\pi)^{3}} \,. \tag{3.3}$$

In order to solve such a system, one begins by solving the first order equations. Being linear, the solutions to those equations can be written as a sum of particular solutions, the number of which is the same as the dimension of the solution space, D. The solution can therefore be written as

$$X^{(1)}(\tau,k) = \sum_{i=1}^{D} \mathcal{T}_i(\tau,k) I_i^{(1)}(k) , \qquad (3.4)$$

in which $\mathcal{T}_i(\tau, k)$ are transfer functions and $I_i(k)$ represent the initial conditions of certain variables of interest. These variables will be called the defining variables of a mode, since they are non-zero only when a specific mode is present. Each of the \mathcal{T}_i is a vector (just like X) while each of the I_i is a scalar. The I_i are usually random variables which encode all the statistical information of the initial conditions, and, given that the evolution of the transfer functions is classical, they will allow us to calculate the statistics of $X^{(1)}$ at any time. The fact that each of the $\mathcal{T}_i(\tau)$ is an independent solution of the differential system also means that we can separate the numerical solution of the equations mode by mode, solving each one separately and later calculating the required statistics by summing all the modes. This is especially useful, since it allows for a solution of the equations without the need to specify the amplitude of each initial condition, leaving those parameters to be constrained by experiment.

At second order, the general solution is

$$X^{(2)}(\tau,k) = \sum_{i} \mathcal{T}_{i}(\tau,k) I_{i}^{(2)}(k) + \sum_{i,j} \int_{k_{1},k_{2}} \mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}(\tau,k,k_{1},k_{2}) I_{i}^{(1)}(k_{1}) I_{j}^{(1)}(k_{2}), \qquad (3.5)$$

in which the first term is the homogeneous solution to Eq. (3.1), i.e. it is the same solution as the first order one, only with different coefficients $I_i^{(2)}$. Given that fact, the total solution, up to this order, can be written as

$$X(\tau,k) = X^{(1)}(\tau,k) + \frac{1}{2}X^{(2)}(\tau,k)$$

$$= \sum_{i} \mathcal{T}_{i}(\tau,k) \left(I_{i}^{(1)}(k) + \frac{1}{2}I_{i}^{(2)}(k) \right) + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i,j} \int_{k_{1},k_{2}} \mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}(\tau,k,k_{1},k_{2})I_{i}^{(1)}(k_{1})I_{j}^{(1)}(k_{2}),$$
(3.6)

which shows that one can absorb the term $I_i^{(2)}$ into the first order part $I_i^{(1)}$ or, equivalently, setting $I_i^{(2)} = 0$. In this case the defining variables $I_i = I_i^{(1)} + \frac{1}{2}I_i^{(2)}$ are set by the initial conditions of the full X and not just its first order part. This is also more natural, as many times, the initial conditions will not be split into different orders, unless they have different properties, such as non-Gaussianity. An alternative scenario is to write $I_i^{(2)}$ as a sum of $I_i^{(1)}I_j^{(1)}$, effectively including it into the second term above. This is also equivalent to the previous case, because nothing constrains $\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}$ from including terms proportional to \mathcal{T}_i . To numerically solve the differential system in question one may also separate the so-

To numerically solve the differential system in question one may also separate the solution of the different transfer functions $\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}$, in order to find solutions which are valid for any values of the amplitude of the initial conditions. To see why this split can be performed, we begin by analysing the source $Q(\tau, k)$. It can also be written in terms of the defining variables as:

$$Q^{(2)}(\tau,k) = \sum_{i,j} \int_{k_1,k_2} \mathcal{S}_{ij}(\tau,k,k_1,k_2) I_i(k_1) I_j(k_2) , \qquad (3.7)$$

in which S_{ij} are the equivalent of transfer functions for the source terms $Q^{(2)}$. It can be shown, due to the linearity of the differential system, that there is a particular solution to the second order system which is a sum of the solutions of similar systems with the source $Q^{(2)}$ substituted for each of the terms in the sum above. Hence, to find the evolution of each $\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}$ one needs only to solve those similar systems in which only the $\{i, j\}$ defining variables are non-zero.

The question that we are concerned with in this paper is that of the initial evolution of $\mathcal{T}_{ij}^{(2)}$, to be used in setting up its numerical evolution. The aim is to find an approximation to the transfer functions that is valid when all Fourier modes of interest are still super-horizon during the radiation dominated Universe. In the following section, we precisely define the isocurvature basis.

4 Definition of isocurvature basis

In the radiation dominated Universe and after neutrino decoupling at $z \sim 10^9$, the species that are relevant are (nearly) massless neutrinos, the dark matter fluid and the tightly coupled baryon-photon plasma. In the case that those species can be represented by barotropic perfect fluids, one can show that the total number of evolving scalar degrees of freedom is 8. This is due to the fact that, for each fluid, the perturbed energy conservation equation and the momentum conservation equation allow us to derive a second order ODE (in k-space). In an appropriate gauge, such as flat gauge [36], one may use the Einstein constraint equations to eliminate the metric potentials, and arrive at a system only in terms of fluid quantities, such as energy densities, pressures, etc. To close the system, one uses the barotropic and perfect nature of the fluids to set the entropy and anisotropic stress fluctuations to zero. Finally, one specifies an equation of state, relating pressure and energy density, which results in a second order ODE for the density perturbation of each fluid. Thus, for each barotropic perfect fluid there are 2 independent modes, hence 8 in total². Naturally, there may be more modes, if, like the neutrinos, the fluids are not perfect. However, it is unlikely that those modes are present if the fluid has been tightly coupled in the past, as such a stage brings any anisotropic stress to negligible values. After decoupling, an anisotropic stress perturbation will be generated, but only after horizon re-entry.

However, as is well known in the literature [21], only 5 of the 8 modes are growing modes in the standard case. This reduction from the total 8 degrees of freedom is due, firstly, to tight coupling, which forces the velocities of baryons and photons to be equal, or, in other words, constrains the mode generated by their difference to be a rapidly decaying mode. Two more modes are also decaying modes, and, in synchronous gauge, arise due to the presence of a non-zero total density contrast and total velocity, as can be seen by analysing

 $^{^{2}}$ The situation is slightly different in synchronous gauge. In that case, one of the metric potentials cannot be completely eliminated from the final equations in terms of the density contrasts. Therefore an extra equation for that potential is required, which appears to increase the number of degrees of freedom to 9. This is a peculiarity of this gauge, for which the coordinate freedom has not been exhausted. The 9th mode is in fact a gauge mode, which is often eliminated by setting the initial velocity field of the dark matter fluid to zero.

the first order versions of Eqs. (2.26) and (2.27). Setting those quantities to zero eliminates the corresponding decaying modes at first order. The five remaining independent modes are usually represented in the so-called isocurvature basis, in which one defines an adiabatic mode and 4 isocurvature modes: dark matter, baryon and neutrino density isocurvatures as well as the neutrino velocity isocurvature, which are labelled in accordance to the defining variable, I_i that is non-zero in each mode. All observational evidence points towards the adiabatic mode being the dominant one and that is why it is used to define this basis. The other modes could possibly be split in different ways, but we stick here to the conventions of the literature, as this parametrisation is commonly used in observational studies.

At second order, an interesting issue arises. Looking again at Eqs (2.26) and (2.27), we see that the terms proportional to \mathcal{H}^2 are responsible for generating decaying solutions, since $\mathcal{H} \approx \tau^{-1}$ during radiation domination. In order to make sure those terms are disabled, we actually require $\delta = v = 0$ and $v' = \delta' = 0$ at the initial time. At first order, however, the condition on the derivatives is a consequence of the original condition, $\delta = v = 0$, as can be shown by checking the total energy and momentum conservation equations:

$$\delta' + (1+w)\left(\frac{3}{2}\mathcal{H}\delta + \nabla^2 v - \frac{1}{\mathcal{H}}\nabla^2\psi\right) = 0, \qquad (4.1)$$

$$(1+w)v' + (1+w)(1-3w)\mathcal{H}v + w\delta - \frac{4}{3}\sigma = 0, \qquad (4.2)$$

in which $w = P/\rho$ is the equation of state parameter for the total fluid. To show that these imply $v' = \delta' = 0$ when $\delta = v = 0$, we first note that $\mathcal{H}^{-1} \approx \tau$ and as a consequence the term with ψ is negligible initially. The second and crucial step is noticing that σ is initially zero at first order, because it is proportional to the neutrino anisotropic stress. At second order, this is no longer true, since the total anisotropic stress depends on the velocity fluctuations of each species, as can be shown from Eq. $(2.17)^3$. Therefore, the conditions required for non-decaying solutions are not satisfied at second order in all cases. In particular, we expect the neutrino velocity mode to have a decaying component at second order, since it is the only one for which the velocities of particular species are initially non-zero. For this reason, we choose not to perform any calculations at second order with the neutrino velocity mode. We now describe the standard way of performing the general decomposition, including the description of the neutrino velocity mode, for completeness.

We begin with the adiabatic mode. It is defined to be the mode whose initial conditions have vanishing entropy perturbations and vanishing velocity for all species. At first order, the gauge invariant relative entropy perturbation is given by ([44])

$$S_{sr} = 3(\zeta_s - \zeta_r), \qquad (4.3)$$

in which r and s label the species in question and ζ_s is the partial curvature perturbation of species s, which is given by

$$\zeta_s = -\psi + \frac{\delta_s}{3(1+w_s)},\tag{4.4}$$

where we have assumed that energy transfer is negligible. In order to define any general mode one must give five initial conditions, as that is the number of growing modes present in the system. However, we wish to leave one of those initial conditions free — the amplitude

³Contributions from non-linear terms appearing in the second order version of Eq. (4.2) are not important for this argument as they can be shown to be initially zero for all possible growing modes at first order.

of the corresponding mode — so that it may later be fixed by measurement. Thus, we only present four conditions for each mode. For the adiabatic one, the conditions are, in terms of the relative entropies:

$$S_{c\gamma}|_{\tau=0} = S_{\nu\gamma}|_{\tau=0} = S_{b\gamma}|_{\tau=0} = S'_{c\nu}|_{\tau=0} = 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

In synchronous gauge, in which these conditions were originally defined, the adiabatic mode is given in terms of density contrasts and the neutrino velocity:

$$\delta_c|_{\tau=0} = \delta_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = \delta_b|_{\tau=0} = v_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = 0.$$
(4.6)

We can show that these conditions are equivalent to the ones for the entropies as $\delta_{\gamma}|_{\tau=0} = 0$ due to the total density contrast being set to zero to avoid decaying modes. The defining variable in this case is $\psi|_{\tau=0} = -\zeta|_{\tau=0}$.

For the isocurvature modes, instead of the initial entropy being zero, these modes require the initial curvature perturbation, ζ , to vanish. The different density isocurvature modes are then distinguished from each other by the fact that at least one of the density contrasts (or neutrino velocity) is initially non-zero.

We summarize here all the conditions for the isocurvature modes at first order in perturbation theory, written in synchronous gauge:

Baryon isocurvature:

$$\delta_c|_{\tau=0} = \delta_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = \psi|_{\tau=0} = v_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = 0, \qquad (4.7)$$

Defining variable: δ_b .

Cold dark matter isocurvature:

$$\delta_b|_{\tau=0} = \delta_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = \psi|_{\tau=0} = v_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = 0, \qquad (4.8)$$

Defining variable: δ_c .

Neutrino Density Isocurvature:

$$\delta_c|_{\tau=0} = \delta_b|_{\tau=0} = \psi|_{\tau=0} = v_{\nu}|_{\tau=0} = 0, \qquad (4.9)$$

Defining variable: δ_{ν} .

Neutrino Velocity Isocurvature:

$$\delta_c|_{\tau=0} = \delta_b|_{\tau=0} = \delta_\nu|_{\tau=0} = \psi|_{\tau=0} = 0, \qquad (4.10)$$

Defining variable: v_{ν} .

As with the adiabatic mode, similar conditions can be defined with other gauge invariant variables, such as the partial curvature perturbations ζ_s . For example, a new set of conditions would be obtained simply by substituting every δ_s for the corresponding ζ_s and ψ for the total ζ . However, the new modes would not form a orthogonal basis in initial condition space, since choosing the ζ_s as defining variables would imply that the adiabatic mode contains a contribution from each of the density isocurvatures. The choice we present above is only one choice of variables which generate an orthogonal basis for the solution space. Many other choices are certainly possible, but this is the one used in the original literature [21].

The conditions at second order are now already automatically set by stating that the Eqs. (4.6)-(4.10) apply to the "non-perturbative" variables and not only to their first order

parts. This is because, by definition, when we choose the component of the vector X to be one of the defining variables, we have:

$$I_i(\tau,k) = \sum_j \mathcal{T}_j^i(\tau,k) I_j(k) + \sum_{m,j} \int_{k_1,k_2} \mathcal{T}_{mj}^i(\tau,k,k_1,k_2) I_m(k_1) I_j(k_2), \qquad (4.11)$$

and thus, the obvious condition of equality, $I_i = I_i$, forces $\mathcal{T}_j^i = \delta_j^i$, as well as $\mathcal{T}_{mj}^i = 0$, when the index *i* corresponds to a defining variable. So, the condition is simply that the initial second order part of the defining variables is exactly zero, for all cases. The choice of defining variables plays a crucial role in the form of the results, as it determines which variables one chooses to be initially zero at second order. A different choice would result in equivalent results, but with a different functional form.

An additional condition must be set regarding the metric potential E. At linear order, the initial value of E is not relevant for the evolution of the other quantities, but at second order, this is not the case, i.e. the first order $E|_{\tau=0}$ does appear in the quadratic source terms and would seem to influence the evolution. However, it can be shown that the initial condition of E (or the value of E at any one time point) can be fixed by the labelling of the spatial coordinates at that time point [40]. Therefore, it is fully consistent to set $E|_{\tau=0} = 0$ and that is what we do throughout the paper.

With these conditions, one is now able to calculate the initial time evolution for the transfer functions in each mode. This will be done in the next section.

Before showing those results, a few important points must be made regarding the adiabatic nature of the second order modes. Firstly, it should be noted that, at second order, the different linear modes mix together. Thus, what we will later call the second order adiabatic mode is the one which is sourced by quadratic combinations of adiabatic linear modes only. Other modes exist which are sourced by one adiabatic component and another isocurvature one. We will label all those modes, *mixed modes*. The second point is that, when this "adiabatic mode" is defined in this way, it is not obvious that the entropy perturbation, given by

$$S_{sr}^{(2)} = \frac{\delta_s^{(2)}}{1+w_s} - \frac{\delta_r^{(2)}}{1+w_r} - \frac{2+w_s+w_r}{(1+w_s)^2} \left(\delta_s^{(1)}\right)^2 + \frac{2}{1+w_s} \delta_s^{(1)} \delta_r^{(1)} + \frac{2}{3(1+w_s)\mathcal{H}} \delta_s^{(1)} \left(\frac{\delta_s^{(1)}}{1+w_s} - \frac{\delta_r^{(1)}}{1+w_r}\right),$$
(4.12)

should vanish at second order, since this condition was not enforced in any way. All the nonlinear terms vanish since all the first order δ_i are initially zero when the mode is adiabatic. By the arguments following Eq. (4.11), we know that all second order densities are zero initially, except for the photon density, which is unconstrained by those arguments. However, the presence of a total density contrast can also be shown to generate decaying modes at second order. Therefore, since we are not considering decaying modes, by Eq. (2.15), the photon density contrast is zero at second order as long as all first order velocities are zero. The mode considered here obeys this condition and is thus a true adiabatic mode.

In different gauges, the vanishing of the entropies may require different conditions for the density contrasts, particularly if they do not vanish initially at the linear level. For example, Ref. [30] uses the following conditions, which should be valid in a general gauge, at second order:

$$\delta_{c}^{(2)}|_{\tau=0} = \delta_{b}^{(2)}|_{\tau=0} = \frac{3}{4}\delta_{\gamma}^{(2)}|_{\tau=0} - \frac{3}{16}\left(\delta_{\gamma}^{(1)}\right)^{2}|_{\tau=0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)}|_{\tau=0} = \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)}|_{\tau=0}.$$
(4.13)

Similar arguments apply to the isocurvature modes. Again, it is not obvious that the gauge invariant curvature perturbation, ζ , will always vanish in all isocurvature modes, for the same reasons as above. For reference, in the large scale limit, ζ is given by

$$\zeta^{(2)} = -\psi^{(2)} + \frac{\delta^{(2)}}{3(1+w)} - \frac{1+3w}{9(1+w)^2} \left(\delta^{(1)}\right)^2$$

$$-\frac{4}{3(1+w)} \delta^{(1)}\psi^{(1)} + \frac{2}{3(1+w)\mathcal{H}} \delta^{(1)} \left(-\psi^{(1)\prime} + \frac{\delta^{(1)\prime}}{3(1+w)}\right),$$
(4.14)

where, for brevity, we are presenting only the variable which is invariant under changes of slicing. We can see that it depends only on the total density contrast, δ , and not on the individual ones for each species. As explained above, δ is zero for growing modes, which added to the choice that $\psi|_{\tau=0} = 0$ for isocurvature modes, results in $\zeta^{(2)} = 0$, confirming also that all modes sourced only by isocurvatures are also true isocurvature modes.

5 Approximate initial time evolution

In order to calculate the initial evolution for each mode, we expand every variable in powers of τ :⁴

$$X = X_0 + X_1 \tau + X_2 \tau^2 + X_3 \tau^3 + \dots$$
(5.1)

This assumes we are neglecting decaying modes, as before. To find the solutions for each mode we apply one of the initial conditions given in Eqs. (4.6)-(4.10) to the expansion of the variables $\{\psi, \delta_b, \delta_c, \delta_\nu, v_\nu\}$, generating a series of constraints on specific X_I . This constrained expansion is then substituted into the evolution equations, Eqs. (2.26)-(2.31), resulting in a set of algebraic equations for the coefficients, X_I , order by order in τ . This will describe the initial solution to the equations of motion for each growing mode. We begin by applying this procedure at first order and recover the results found in Refs. [21, 24]. We substitute those results into the second order equations of motion and apply the same procedure to find the initial evolution for the second order transfer function. This is the final step to obtain our main results, which we show below.

We begin, however, by giving an example at linear order. We show here the results for

⁴To make this expansion well defined, one should use a dimensionless expansion parameter, instead of τ , which has dimensions of time (or length, with c = 1). In practice, as will be clear in the results, the expansion parameter will either be $k\tau$, $k_i\tau$ or $\omega\tau$, with $\omega \equiv \Omega_M \mathcal{H}/\sqrt{\Omega_R}$. The first two are very small for modes deep outside the horizon, while the last one is small for sufficiently early times, given that the constant ω is $O(10^{-6})$ Mpc⁻¹. Thus, the expansion in τ is correct as long as τ is sufficiently small.

the sum of the two matter isocurvature modes in synchronous gauge:

$$\begin{split} \psi = &R_c \left(-\frac{1}{6} \omega \tau + \frac{1}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + R_b \left(-\frac{1}{6} \omega \tau + \frac{1}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ E = &\left(R_c \frac{15 - 4R_\nu}{72(15 + 2R_\nu)} \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(R_b \frac{15 - 4R_\nu}{72(15 + 2R_\nu)} \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ \delta_c = &\left(1 - \frac{R_c}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{3R_c}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + R_b \left(-\frac{1}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{3}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ \delta_b = &\left(-\frac{R_c}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{3R_c}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(1 - \frac{R_b}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{3R_b}{16} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ \delta_\gamma = &\left(-\frac{2R_c}{3} \omega \tau + \frac{R_c}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(-\frac{2R_b}{3} \omega \tau + \frac{R_b}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ \delta_\nu = &\left(-\frac{2R_c}{3} \omega \tau + \frac{R_c}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(-\frac{2R_b}{3} \omega \tau + \frac{R_b}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} = &\left(\frac{R_c}{12} \omega \tau^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(\frac{R_b}{12} \omega \tau^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ v_\nu = &\left(\frac{R_c}{12} \omega \tau^2 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(\frac{R_b}{12} \omega \tau^2 \right) \delta_b^0, \\ (5.2) \\ \sigma_\nu = &\left(-\frac{R_c}{6(15 + 2R_\nu)} k^2 \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta_c^0 + \left(-\frac{R_b}{6(15 + 2R_\nu)} k^2 \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta_b^0, \end{split}$$

in which $\omega \equiv \Omega_M \mathcal{H}/\sqrt{\Omega_R}$, $R_c = \Omega_c/\Omega_M$, $R_\nu = \Omega_\nu/\Omega_R$, $R_\gamma = \Omega_\gamma/\Omega_R$ and the Ω_s are the usual density parameters. We have also used the total matter and total radiation density parameters, respectively given by $\Omega_M = \Omega_c + \Omega_b$ and $\Omega_R = \Omega_\gamma + \Omega_\nu$. This implies that $R_c + R_b = 1$ as well as $R_\nu + R_\gamma = 1$. We have also abbreviated the initial values of the cold dark matter and baryon density contrasts, $\delta_c|_{\tau=0}$ and $\delta_b|_{\tau=0}$, to δ_c^0 and δ_b^0 for simplicity of notation. We also do this for all other defining variables in all modes presented below.

This example is particularly useful because it also allows us to analyse a combination of modes called the compensated isocurvature mode [11]. This mode is defined by the choice of initial conditions for which all variables cancel in the equations above, except the matter density contrasts. It is given by the following condition

$$\delta_b^0 = -\frac{R_c}{R_b} \delta_c^0 \,. \tag{5.3}$$

When the initial conditions are exactly related in this way, no other variables are generated at linear order. As we will later verify, this is no longer true at second order, due to mode mixing.

Another property that we can see in this example is that, at first order in perturbation theory, there is a hierarchy between the brightness tensors in terms of their order in τ : it is clear here, that $\delta_{\nu} \gg v_{\nu} \gg \sigma_{\nu}$. This can be shown using the evolution equations for those variables — the first order versions of Eqs. (2.30)–(2.31) — from which one deduces that $v_{\nu} \propto \int \delta_{\nu} d\tau$ and $\sigma_{\nu} \propto \int v_{\nu} d\tau$. This implies that one can safely neglect the higher rank brightness tensors, as they will certainly be smaller than the ones shown. At second order, this is not so straightforward, as all variables are sourced by non-linear terms, which do not have to obey such a hierarchy. In order to test this, all the results below include one extra variable, the scalar part of the rank 3 brightness tensor, Δ_3 . Should this variable be of the same order in τ as σ_{ν} , one may assume that all other brightness tensors are of a similar size. Should that be the case, they may not be negligible, since they may affect the evolution of all other variables. In practice, as we show below, none of the modes under study suffer from this problem and this hierarchy is preserved.

We now present the second order results for all growing modes, excluding the neutrino velocity mode, as it includes decaying contributions at second order, as discussed above. In all of the results shown, we abuse the notation and use the names of the variables to denote the transfer functions multiplied by the defining variables (for example $\psi^{(2)} = \mathcal{T}_{ij}I_iI_j$) i.e. we show only the integrand of the second order part of the variable. We begin by showing the pure adiabatic mode and show the results for the isocurvature modes after that by "activating" each of the four linear growing modes separately.

5.1 Pure adiabatic mode

We find the following results for the initial evolution at second order and at leading order in τ , when including only the quadratic source composed by the adiabatic first order solutions, in synchronous gauge:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= -\frac{4R_{\nu}k^{2}(3k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})+5\left(3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)}{24(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{4}}(k\tau)^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ E^{(2)} &= -\frac{5\left(9k^{4}-3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)}{8(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{4}}\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{8}\left(3k^{2}+5(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{8}\left(3k^{2}+5(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{6}\left(3k^{2}+5(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{6}\left(3k^{2}+5(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{6}\left(3k^{2}+5(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{72k^{2}}\left(3k^{4}+2(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+7k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{3}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{23+4R_{\nu}}{72(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{2}}\left(3k^{4}+2(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+7k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\tau^{3}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{(9k^{4}-3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2}))}{6(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{4}}(k\tau)^{2}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \Delta_{3}^{(2)} &= -\frac{37k^{4}+9(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-6k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})}{42(15+4R_{\nu})k^{4}}\tau^{3}\psi_{k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}, \end{split}$$

These results for the adiabatic mode were already known in Poisson gauge [28, 30] and one can check that they match ours by using the gauge transformations given in Appendix A. We see here that σ_{ν} is initially larger (in order of τ) than v_{ν} . This was not the case at the linear level. However, we also note that Δ_3 is again higher order in τ , giving us confidence that higher rank tensors can be neglected.

5.2 Pure cold dark matter isocurvature mode

For the mode that is sourced by the quadratic dark matter isocurvature first order solutions, the initial evolution is given by:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(\frac{(\omega\tau)^2}{48} - \frac{(\omega\tau)^3}{72} \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ E^{(2)} &= O(\tau^4) \\ \delta_c^{(2)} &= R_c \left(-\omega\tau + \frac{18 + 23R_c}{48} (\omega\tau)^2 + \frac{16(k_1^2 + k_2^2) - 15(6 + 17R_c)\omega^2}{720} \omega\tau^3 \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_b^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(\frac{23}{48} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{17}{48} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(-\frac{7\omega^2\tau^3}{144} + \frac{(15R_b + 16R_{\gamma})\omega^3\tau^4}{576R_{\gamma}} \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_c^2 \left(-\frac{7\omega^2\tau^3}{144} + \frac{\omega^3\tau^4}{36} \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= O(\tau^4) \,, \\ \Delta_3^{(2)} &= O(\tau^5) \,. \end{split}$$

5.3 Mixture of adiabatic and cold dark matter modes

When both the adiabatic mode and the dark matter isocurvature are present, a mixed mode is generated, for which the initial evolution is:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= R_c \left(\frac{1}{3} \omega \tau - \frac{1}{8} (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ E^{(2)} &= f_E^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_c &= \left(-\frac{1}{4} k_2^2 \tau^2 + \frac{1}{180} (-2(k^2 - 5k_1^2) R_c + k_2^2 (9 + 41 R_c)) \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_b &= -\frac{R_c}{120} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 29k_2^2) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\gamma} &= -\frac{R_c}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\nu} &= -\frac{R_c}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\nu} &= -\frac{R_c}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\nu} &= -\frac{R_c}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\nu} &= \left(\frac{R_c}{12k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega \tau^2 - \frac{R_c (R_\gamma + 3R_b)}{48R_\gamma k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega^2 \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ v^{(2)}_{\nu} &= \left(\frac{R_c}{12k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega \tau^2 - \frac{R_c}{48k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega^2 \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \sigma^{(2)}_{\nu} &= f_{\sigma}^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}(k, k_1, k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{c,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\mu} &= -g^{c\psi}($$

with the following kernels:

$$\begin{split} f_E^{c\psi} &= -\frac{R_c}{576(15+4R_\nu)(15+2R_\nu)k^4} \left[(225+720R_\nu+32R_\nu^2)k^4 \\ &\quad + 3(675+240R_\nu-32R_\nu^2)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2 \\ &\quad + 2k^2((-1125-720R_\nu+32R_\nu^2)k_1^2+(-225+240R_\nu+32R_\nu^2)k_2^2) \right] , \\ f_{\sigma}^{c\psi} &= -\frac{R_c \left[(135+8R_\nu)k^4+3(5-8R_\nu)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2+2k^2((-75+8R_\nu)k_1^2+(65+8R_\nu)k_2^2) \right] }{48(15+4R_\nu)(15+2R_\nu)k^4} \end{split}$$

Note that to get the full results for the mixed mode one would have to add the complementary solution obtained by switching $k_1 \leftrightarrow k_2$. We can see that there exist growing mode solutions for these mixed modes, thus showing that they must be taken into account if one is to have an accurate understanding of the effect of isocurvature modes on non-linear observables. This is even more important in the particular case shown, since this mode includes a contribution from the adiabatic mode, which should make this mixed mode more relevant than the pure isocurvature one, presented before.

5.4 Pure baryon isocurvature mode

We now move on to the introduction of the baryon isocurvature mode:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(\frac{(\omega\tau)^2}{48} - \frac{(\omega\tau)^3}{72} \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ E^{(2)} &= O(\tau^4) \\ \delta_c^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(\frac{23}{48} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{17}{48} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ \delta_b^{(2)} &= R_b \omega \tau \left(-1 + \frac{18 + 23R_b}{48} \omega \tau + \frac{16(k_1^2 + k_2^2) + 20k^2 - 15(6 + 17R_c)\omega^2}{720} \tau^2 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ \delta_\gamma^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ \delta_\nu^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega\tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega\tau)^3 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(\frac{7R_\nu - 16}{144R_\gamma} \omega^2 \tau^3 + \frac{R_b(69 - 15R_\nu) + 16R_\gamma^2}{576R_\gamma^2} \omega^3 \tau^4 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ v_\nu^{(2)} &= R_b^2 \left(-\frac{7}{144} \omega^2 \tau^3 + \frac{1}{36} \omega^3 \tau^4 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 , \\ \sigma_\nu^{(2)} &= O(\tau^4) , \\ \Delta_3^{(2)} &= O(\tau^5) . \end{split}$$

This mode is very similar to the "pure" dark matter isocurvature, as it is already at first order. In this case, however, the application of the compensated isocurvature condition, Eq. (5.3), would not lead to cancellations when this mode is summed to the dark matter one, due the quadratic nature of these modes. Furthermore, some terms are completely different in the two modes, namely the matter densities and the baryon-photon velocity. However, in order to completely analyse the initial evolution of the compensated isocurvature mode, we must still investigate the mixed mode between the baryon and dark matter isocurvatures.

5.5 Mixture of baryon and cold dark matter modes

This mixed mode is given by

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= \frac{R_b R_c}{48} \left((\omega \tau)^2 - \frac{2}{3} (\omega \tau)^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ E^{(2)} &= O(\tau^4) \\ \delta^{(2)}_c &= R_b \left(-\frac{1}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{9 + 23 R_c}{48} (\omega \tau)^2 + \frac{16 k_1^2 - 15 (3 + 17 R_c) \omega^2}{720} \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_b &= R_c \left(-\frac{1}{2} \omega \tau + \frac{9 + 23 R_b}{48} (\omega \tau)^2 + \frac{10 k^2 - 10 k_1^2 + 26 k_2^2 - 300 \omega^2 + 255 R_c \omega^2}{720} \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\gamma &= R_b R_c \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega \tau)^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\nu &= R_b R_c \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega \tau)^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_{\gamma b} &= \frac{R_b R_c \left(\frac{3}{4} (\omega \tau)^2 - \frac{5}{9} (\omega \tau)^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ v^{(2)}_{\gamma b} &= \frac{R_b R_c (9 (k_1^2 - k_2^2) - (23 - 14 R_\nu) k^2)}{288 R_\gamma k^2} \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ v^{(2)}_\nu &= -\frac{7 R_b R_c}{144} \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{b,k_1} \delta^0_{c,k_2} \,, \\ \sigma^{(2)}_\nu &= O(\tau^4) \,, \\ \Delta^{(2)}_3 &= O(\tau^5) \,. \end{split}$$

Adding all the matter modes together and applying the compensated isocurvature condition, Eq. (5.3), we can show that again, the compensated isocurvature mode has vanishing initial evolution even at second order. This is not surprising, since, if only these matter isocurvature modes are active and do not evolve at linear order, they would only source the second order evolution if terms like δ_c^2 , δ_b^2 or $\delta_c \delta_b$ existed in the evolution equations. Having concluded that a pure compensated isocurvature mode does not evolve initially, it remains to be seen whether it can mix with the adiabatic mode and generate additional contributions.

5.6 Mixture of adiabatic and baryon modes

To test what happens when one mixes a compensated isocurvature with the adiabatic mode, we first need the mixed mode between the baryon isocurvature and the adiabatic mode:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= R_b \left(\frac{1}{3} \omega \tau - \frac{1}{8} \omega^2 \tau^2 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ E^{(2)} &= f_E^{b\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) \omega \tau^3 \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_c &= -\frac{R_b}{180} \omega \tau^3 (-2k^2 + 10k_1^2 + 41k_2^2) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_b &= \left(-\frac{1}{4} k_2^2 \tau^2 + \frac{1}{120} ((15k_1^2 + 29k_2^2 - 3k^2)R_b + 6k_2^2) \omega \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\gamma &= -\frac{R_b}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\nu &= -\frac{R_b}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\nu &= -\frac{R_b}{90} \omega \tau^3 (3k^2 - 15k_1^2 - 34k_2^2) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \delta^{(2)}_\nu &= \left(\frac{R_b}{12k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega \tau^2 - \frac{R_b (R_\gamma + 3R_b)}{48R_\gamma k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega^2 \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ v^{(2)}_\nu &= \left(\frac{R_b}{12k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega \tau^2 - \frac{R_b}{48k^2} (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2) \omega^2 \tau^3 \right) \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \sigma^{(2)}_\nu &= f^{b\psi}_\sigma (k,k_1,k_2) \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta^0_{b,k_1} \psi^0_{k_2} \,, \\ \Delta^{(2)}_3 &= O(\tau^4) \,, \end{split}$$

with the following kernels:

$$\begin{split} f_E^{b\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) &= \frac{R_b}{R_c} f_E^{c\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) \,, \\ f_{\sigma}^{b\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) &= \frac{R_b}{R_c} f_{\sigma}^{c\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) \,. \end{split}$$

It is immediately clear from the relationship between the kernels for E and σ , that cancellations will occur when the compensated isocurvature condition, Eq. (5.3), is applied. However, there are some terms that do survive and are given by

$$\begin{split} \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{1}{20} k_{2}^{2} \tau^{2} (5 - \omega \tau) \delta_{\mathrm{CI},k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{c}}{20 R_{b}} k_{2}^{2} \tau^{2} (5 - \omega \tau) \delta_{\mathrm{CI},k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{c}}{R_{\gamma}} \frac{k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2}}{96 k^{2}} k_{2}^{2} \omega \tau^{4} \delta_{\mathrm{CI},k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \end{split}$$
(5.10)

in which $\delta_{\mathrm{CI},k_1}^0$ is the initial density contrast of dark matter in the compensated isocurvature mode. We see here that the compensated isocurvature condition is conserved, i.e. $\delta_b^{(2)} = -\frac{R_c}{R_b} \delta_c^{(2)}$, but we also see that the velocity fluctuation of the baryon-photon plasma is generated by this mode, which was non-existent at linear order. We confirm here that the compensated isocurvature mode does have an effect on the evolution at second order, even at these early times.

5.7 Pure neutrino density isocurvature mode

We now introduce the modes sourced by the neutrino density isocurvature. First we show the results for the "pure" mode:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= f_{\psi}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2})(k\tau)^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ E^{(2)} &= f_{E}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{b}R_{\nu}^{2}}{320R_{\gamma}^{2}} (7k^{2} - 3(k_{1}^{2} + k_{2}^{2}))\omega\tau^{3} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}^{2}}{32R_{\gamma}^{2}} (7k^{2} - 3(k_{1}^{2} + k_{2}^{2}))\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}^{2}}{12R_{\gamma}^{2}} (k^{2} - k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{12} (k^{2} - k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{4} \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu}^{2}}{4R_{\gamma}^{2}} \tau - \frac{3R_{b}R_{\nu}^{2}}{8R_{\gamma}^{3}}\omega\tau^{2}\right) \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{4} \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= f_{\sigma}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2})(k\tau)^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \Delta_{3}^{(2)} &= f_{\Delta}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\tau^{3} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{\nu,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \end{split}$$

in which the kernels abbreviated above are given by

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= -\frac{R_{\nu}^{2}\left[(27+68R_{\nu})k^{4}-(91+4R_{\nu})\left(3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\right]}{96R_{\gamma}(4R_{\nu}+15)^{2}k^{4}} ,\\ f_{E}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= -3f_{\psi}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) ,\\ f_{\sigma}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= -\frac{1}{96R_{\gamma}(4R_{\nu}+15)^{2}k^{4}}\left[(-225-39R_{\nu}+188R_{\nu}^{2})k^{4}\right.\\ &\left. +(225-153R_{\nu}+4R_{\nu}^{2})\left(3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\right] ,\\ f_{\Delta}^{\nu\nu}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= -\frac{R_{\nu}\left[(-51+32R_{\nu})k^{4}+(3+16R_{\nu})\left(3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2})\right)\right] ,\\ 84R_{\gamma}(4R_{\nu}+15)^{2}k^{4}} .\end{split}$$

5.8 Mixture of adiabatic and neutrino modes

The mixed mode between the neutrino density isocurvature and the adiabatic mode is given by

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= f_{\psi}^{\nu\psi}(k,k_{1},k_{2})(k\tau)^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ E^{(2)} &= f_{E}^{\nu\psi}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{b}R_{\nu}}{16R_{\gamma}}(k^{2} - 5k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3} \delta_{b,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}}{16R_{\gamma}}(k^{2} - 5k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}}{12R_{\gamma}}(k^{2} - 5(k_{1}^{2} + k_{2}^{2}))\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{1}{12}(k^{2} - 5(k_{1}^{2} + k_{2}^{2}))\tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{\left(\frac{R_{\nu}(k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})}{4R_{\gamma}k^{2}} \tau - \frac{3R_{b}R_{\nu}(k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})}{16R_{\gamma}^{2}k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2}\right) \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{(k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})}{4k^{2}} \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= f_{\sigma}^{\nu\psi}(k,k_{1},k_{2})(k\tau)^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,, \\ \Delta_{3}^{(2)} &= f_{\Delta}^{\nu\psi}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\tau^{3} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \psi_{k_{2}}^{0} \,. \end{split}$$

The kernels are given by

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi}^{\nu\psi} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}\left[(45+4R_{\nu})k^4 - 3(5+4R_{\nu})(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 + k^2((-30+8R_{\nu})k_1^2 + 2(25+4R_{\nu})k_2^2)\right]}{24(4R_{\nu}+15)^2k^4} \,, \\ f_E^{\nu\psi} &= -3f_{\psi}^{\nu\psi} \,, \\ f_{\sigma}^{\nu\psi} &= -\frac{3}{R_{\nu}}f_{\psi}^{\nu\psi}(k,k_1,k_2) \,, \\ f_{\Delta}^{\nu\psi} &= -\frac{1}{336(15+4R_{\nu})^2k^6} \left[(1545+316R_{\nu})k^6 + 35(15+4R_{\nu})(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^3 - 3k^2(k_1^2 - k_2^2)(3(65+28R_{\nu})k_1^2 + (225+28R_{\nu})k_2^2) + k^4((675+372R_{\nu})k_1^2 - 5(147+52R_{\nu})k_2^2)\right] \end{split}$$

•

5.9 Mixture of dark matter and neutrino modes

Now we show the neutrino-dark matter mixed mode:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= f_{\psi}^{\nu c}(k, k_{1}, k_{2})\omega k^{2}\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ E^{(2)} &= f_{E}^{\nu c}(k, k_{1}, k_{2})\omega \tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{b}R_{\nu}}{80R_{\gamma}}k_{1}^{2}\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{288R_{\gamma}}(-5k^{2}+29k_{1}^{2}+5k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \left(-\frac{2R_{c}}{3}\omega\tau - \frac{1}{4}(\omega\tau)^{2}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \left(-\frac{2R_{c}}{3}\omega\tau + \frac{R_{c}}{4}(\omega\tau)^{2}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{R_{\gamma}}\left(\frac{k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2}}{32k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2} + \frac{k^{2}(9R_{b}-4R_{\gamma})-(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})(4R_{\gamma}+15R_{b})}{384R_{\gamma}k^{2}}\omega^{2}\tau^{3}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \left(\frac{(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})R_{c}}{32k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2} - \frac{(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})R_{c}}{96k^{2}}\omega^{2}\tau^{3}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= f_{\sigma}^{\nu c}(k, k_{1}, k_{2})\omega k^{2}\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{c,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{3}^{(2)} &= O(\tau^{4}), \end{split}$$

with the following kernels:

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi}^{\nu c}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{144(2R_{\nu}+15)^{2}(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{4}} \left[(675+90R_{\nu}-6R_{\nu}^{2})(k^{4}+(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}) \right. \\ &\left. -2k^{2}((225+90R_{\nu}+2R_{\nu}^{2})k_{1}^{2}-3(-75+10R_{\nu}+2R_{\nu}^{2})k_{2}^{2}) \right] , \\ f_{E}^{\nu c}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= -3f_{\psi}^{\nu c}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) , \\ f_{\sigma}^{\nu c}(k,k_{1},k_{2}) &= \frac{R_{c}}{96(2R_{\nu}+15)^{2}(4R_{\nu}+15)k^{4}} \left[3(-1125-180R_{\nu}+4R_{\nu}^{2})(k^{4}+(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}) \right. \\ &\left. +2k^{2}((675+300R_{\nu}+4R_{\nu}^{2})k_{1}^{2}+3(525+20R_{\nu}-4R_{\nu}^{2})k_{2}^{2}) \right] . \end{split}$$

5.10 Mixture of baryon and neutrino modes

Finally, the results for the neutrino-baryon mixed mode are

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= f_{\psi}^{\nu b}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\omega k^{2}\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ E^{(2)} &= f_{E}^{\nu b}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{b}R_{\nu}}{160R_{\gamma}}(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}}{16R_{\gamma}}(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\tau^{2}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{b}}{R_{\gamma}}\left(\frac{2}{3}\omega\tau-\frac{1}{4}(\omega\tau)^{2}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_{b}\left(-\frac{2}{3}\omega\tau+\frac{1}{4}(\omega\tau)^{2}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_{b}\left(\frac{(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})R_{b}R_{\nu}(R_{\nu}-4)}{32R_{\gamma}^{2}k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2}+f_{\nu}^{\nu b}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\omega^{2}\tau^{3}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= R_{b}\left(\frac{(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})}{32k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2}-\frac{(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})}{96k^{2}}\omega^{2}\tau^{3}\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \sigma_{\nu}^{(2)} &= f_{\sigma}^{\nu b}(k,k_{1},k_{2})\omega k^{2}\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{3}^{(2)} &= O(\tau^{4}), \end{split}$$

with the following kernels:

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi}^{\nu b} &= -\frac{R_b R_\nu}{1440 R \gamma (2R_\nu + 15)^2 (4R_\nu + 15) k^4} \left[3(1125 + 3750 R_\nu + 620 R_\nu^2 - 4R_\nu^3) k^4 \right. \\ &\quad - 30(225 - 195 R_\nu - 32 R_\nu^2 + 2 R_\nu^3) (k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 \\ &\quad + k^2 ((14625 + 2700 R_\nu - 860 R_\nu^2 + 8 R_\nu^3) k_1^2 + 3(-1875 - 3500 R_\nu - 140 R_\nu^2 + 24 R_\nu^3) k_2^2) \right] , \\ f_E^{\nu b} &= \frac{R_b}{R_c} f_E^{\nu c} , \\ f_{\nu}^{\nu b} &= \frac{R_\nu R_b}{384 R_\gamma^3 k^2} \left[k^2 (-5 + R_\nu + 4 R_\nu^2 + 9 R_b (5 + R_\nu)) \right. \\ &\quad + (k_1^2 - k_2^2) (-5 + R_b (69 - 15 R_\nu) + R_\nu + 4 R_\nu^2) \right] , \\ f_{\sigma}^{\nu b} &= \frac{R_b}{R_c} f_{\sigma}^{\nu c} . \end{split}$$

We can also analyse here if the compensated isocurvature generates an extra contribution when mixed with the neutrino isocurvature. We find that it does and present below the initial evolution for that mixed mode, showing only the non-zero variables:

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{480R_{\gamma}} (k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}}{160R_{\gamma}} \left(R_{c}(k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2}) - 2R_{b}k_{1}^{2} \right)\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{b}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{16R_{\gamma}R_{b}} (k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\tau^{2}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(6 - R_{\nu})}{120R_{\gamma}^{2}} (k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{120R_{\gamma}} (k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= \frac{3R_{\nu}R_{c}}{32R_{\gamma}^{2}} \frac{k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2}}{k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} ,\\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}}{1920R_{\gamma}} (k^{2} + k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{4}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0} . \end{split}$$
(5.15)

We see that the mixture of these two modes is far more consequential in this case than it was when the compensated isocurvature mixed with the adiabatic mode. In particular, the compensated isocurvature relation, Eq. (5.3), is not conserved at second order and many other quantities are generated besides the matter density perturbations, in clear contrast to what happens at the linear level.

We also note that in all the modes above, the hierarchy between v_{ν} , σ_{ν} and Δ_3 is maintained, i.e. $v_{\nu} \gtrsim \sigma_{\nu} \gtrsim \Delta_3$, in terms of their order in the expansion in τ . This gives us confidence that we can neglect the initial evolution of the higher brightness tensors for all the modes under study.

6 Conclusion

We have studied the approximate initial solutions for the transfer functions of the most relevant variables used in the initialization of Boltzmann solvers at second order in perturbation theory. In order to do this, we have described the differential system and precisely defined the different modes under study. We have concluded that the number of purely growing modes is smaller at second order, as we have shown that the neutrino velocity mode sources decaying solutions due to its contribution to the total anisotropic stress. Furthermore, we have highlighted the importance of the solutions sourced by multiple modes, which have no first order counter-part. We show that these solutions exhibit growing behaviour, thus making them essential for the accurate evolution of the cosmological variables.

We also investigated in detail the consequences of a compensated isocurvature mode, the mode which is constrained the least at the linear level. We confirm that a pure compensated isocurvature mode does not generate any evolution both at first and second order in cosmological perturbations. However, we show that, when mixed with other modes, there are additional contributions to many variables, which do not exist at linear order or in the pure compensated mode. In particular, we noted that the mixed adiabatic and compensated isocurvature solution conserves the relation between the baryon and dark matter contrasts given initially, but also causes the compensated density fluctuation to grow, as well as the baryon-photon velocity. Considering the other possible mixture, with the neutrino density isocurvature, we find that the curvature perturbation, density contrasts and velocity perturbations receive a contribution from this mixed mode, but no higher multipoles are affected.

Our results can be applied to initialize second order Boltzmann codes to evaluate the effects of isocurvatures on a variety of observables. In the future, we aim to apply the same techniques developed here to study the initialization of vector modes, which are known to be sourced when multiple degrees of freedom are present. This would be an interesting application for the mixed modes found in this work.

Acknowledgements

PC is supported by a Queen Mary Principal's Research Studentship, by a Bolsa de Excelência Académica of the Fundação Eugénio de Almeida and by the Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia (FCT) grant SFRH/BD/118740/2016, KAM is supported, in part, by STFC grant ST/M001202/1. The tensor algebra package xAct $[45]^5$, as well as its sub-package xPand $[46]^6$, were used in the derivation of many of the equations presented in this work. The authors are grateful to David Mulryne and Alkistis Portsidou for useful discussions.

A Gauge transformations to Poisson gauge

In order to apply the results of this paper in other settings in which the synchronous gauge is not used, one has to perform a gauge transformation from the synchronous gauge to the desired gauge. We present the general transformations here, as well as the specific transformations to the Poisson gauge applied to each mode.

We begin by defining a gauge generator, ξ^{μ} , to parametrise the gauge transformation. The effect of a gauge transformation on a tensor field T is given by ([40, 47–49])

$$\widetilde{T} = e^{\pounds_{\xi}} T \,, \tag{A.1}$$

in which \pounds_{ξ} is the Lie derivative in the direction of ξ . Expanding the relation above order by order, one finds, up to second order,

$$\widetilde{\delta T_1} = \delta T_1 + \pounds_{\xi_1} T_0 \,, \tag{A.2}$$

$$\widetilde{\delta T_2} = \delta T_2 + \pounds_{\xi_2} T_0 + \pounds_{\xi_1}^2 T_0 + 2\pounds_{\xi_1} \delta T_1, \qquad (A.3)$$

where we have expanded the gauge generator order by order as $\xi^{\mu} = \xi_1^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\xi_2^{\mu} + \dots$ We decompose it further into scalar and vector parts as

$$\xi^{\mu} = \left(\alpha, \beta^{,i} + \gamma^{i}\right) \,. \tag{A.4}$$

With these definitions and the metric defined in the main text in Eqs. (2.2)-(2.4), the first order gauge transformations of the metric variables are given by

$$\widetilde{\phi}_1 = \phi_1 + \mathcal{H}\alpha_1 + \alpha'_1, \qquad \widetilde{\psi}_1 = \psi_1 - \mathcal{H}\alpha_1, \qquad (A.5)$$

$$\widetilde{E}_1 = E_1 + \beta_1, \qquad \qquad \widetilde{B}_1 = B_1 - \alpha_1 + \beta'_1, \qquad (A.6)$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{1}^{i} = F_{1}^{i} + \gamma_{1}^{i}, \qquad \qquad \widetilde{S}_{1}^{i} = S_{1}^{i} - \gamma_{1}^{i\prime}, \qquad (A.7)$$

$$\widetilde{h}_{1}^{ij} = h_{1}^{ij}, \tag{A.8}$$

⁵http://www.xact.es

⁶http://www.xact.es/xPand/

and those of the fluid quantities are

$$\widetilde{\delta_1} = \delta_1 - 3\mathcal{H}(1+w)\alpha_1, \qquad (A.9)$$

$$\widetilde{v_1} = v_1 - \beta'_1, \qquad \widetilde{v_{V1}^i} = v_{V1}^i - \gamma_1^{i\prime}, \qquad (A.10)$$

which are valid for any of the species presented above.

The synchronous gauge, used in the main text, is defined via

$$\widetilde{\phi} = \widetilde{B} = 0, \qquad \widetilde{S}^i = 0, \qquad (A.11)$$

which means that to apply a gauge transformation from a general gauge to synchronous gauge, the appropriate gauge generators are given by

$$\alpha_1 = -\frac{1}{a} \left(\int a\phi_1 d\tau - C_\alpha(x^i) \right) , \qquad (A.12)$$

$$\beta_1 = \int \left(\alpha_1 - B_1 \mathrm{d}\tau\right) + C_\beta(x^i), \qquad (A.13)$$

$$\gamma_1^i = \int S_1^i \mathrm{d}\tau + C_\gamma^i(x^i) \,. \tag{A.14}$$

The constant functions C_{β} and C_{γ}^{i} can be fixed by a choice of coordinates at the initial hypersurface. The function C_{α} , however, represents a residual gauge freedom that exists in this gauge and can be unambiguously chosen by setting the initial dark matter velocity perturbation to zero, as is done throughout this paper.

The Poisson gauge, to which we want to convert our results in this appendix, is specified by the following choices

$$\widetilde{E} = \widetilde{B} = 0, \qquad \widetilde{F^i} = 0, \qquad (A.15)$$

which implies that the gauge generator components are, at first order,

$$\alpha_1 = B_1 - E_1', (A.16)$$

$$\beta_1 = -E_1 \,, \tag{A.17}$$

$$\gamma_1^i = -F_1^i \,. \tag{A.18}$$

In this work, we are interested in a transformation from synchronous to Poisson gauge, thus we may simply re-write the first equation above as $\alpha_1^{S2P} = -E_1^{S'}$. Therefore the gauge transformations for the scalars depend only on the metric potential E_1 . For that reason, the difference between variables on both gauges depends on the size of E in each mode, in orders of τ . For example, in the CDM isocurvature mode shown in the main text in Eq. (5.2), the metric potential E is $O(\tau^3)$. However, it enters α with a time derivative and is usually multiplied by \mathcal{H} , thus the gauge transformation will make a difference of order $O(\tau)$ in most variables. At leading order, the CDM isocurvature mode is now given in Poisson gauge by

$$\begin{split} \psi &= -\frac{R_c(4R_\nu + 15)}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\delta_c^0, \\ \phi &= \frac{R_c(4R_\nu - 15)}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\delta_c^0, \\ \delta_c &= \left(1 - \frac{3R_c(4R_\nu + 15)}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\right)\delta_c^0, \\ \delta_b &= -\frac{3R_c(4R_\nu + 15)}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\delta_c^0, \\ \delta_\gamma &= -\frac{R_c(4R_\nu + 15)}{2(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\delta_c^0, \\ \delta_\nu &= -\frac{R_c(4R_\nu + 15)}{2(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau\delta_c^0, \\ \psi_\gamma &= \frac{R_c(15 - 4R_\nu)}{24(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau^2\delta_c^0, \\ \psi_\gamma &= \frac{15R_c}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau^2\delta_c^0, \\ \psi_\nu &= \frac{15R_c}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)}\omega\tau^2\delta_c^0, \\ \sigma_\nu &= -\frac{R_c}{6(15 + 2R_\nu)}k^2\omega\tau^3\delta_c^0. \end{split}$$

In other modes, the transformation is similar, but can introduce additional issues. For example, in the case of the neutrino velocity isocurvature, some variables will have decaying solutions already at linear order, as E is $O(\tau)$ in that case. This is described, for example, in Ref. [24], in which the potentials ϕ and ψ are given in Poisson gauge for all five linear growing modes. We do not comment further on this issue, as we do not study the neutrino velocity mode at second order, for the reasons explained in the main text.

At second order, the transformation rules become more complex, but can be similarly constructed. They can be consulted in Ref. [40] and, for brevity, we shall not reproduce them here. In practice, they are very similar to Eqs. (A.5)–(A.10), with the addition of non-linear terms. As before, one can then calculate the form of the gauge generators required to transform from synchronous gauge to Poisson gauge. Applying those transformations to the results in the main text, we find the results for Poisson gauge, which we show in the same order as before, starting with the adiabatic sourced mode. Note, however, that the defining variables (e.g. $\psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0$) still refer to those variables in synchronous gauge.

A.1 Pure adiabatic mode

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{20(35 + 8R_{\nu})}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} - 2f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} \right) \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_c &= \delta_b = \left(-\frac{15(35 + 16R_{\nu})}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} \right) \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(-\frac{40(15 + 8R_{\nu})}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} \right) \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_c &= v_{\gamma b} = v_\nu = \left(-\frac{40(10 + 3R_{\nu})}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} \right) \tau \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \sigma_\nu &= -\frac{9k^4 - 3(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 + 2k^2(k_1^2 + k_2^2)}{3(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^4} (k\tau)^2 \psi_{k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \end{split}$$
(A.20)

with,

$$f_{\psi,P}^{\psi\psi} = \frac{5}{(15+4R_{\nu})^2k^4} \left[(25+9R_{\nu})k^4 - (5+R_{\nu}) \left(3(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2 - 2k^2(k_1^2+k_2^2) \right) \right] \,.$$

We can very easily verify that the adiabatic condition at second order, given in Eq. (4.13), is indeed verified in this gauge, as it must. Furthermore, we can now directly compare these results to those given in Refs. [28, 30]. They do not exactly match, due to a different choice of defining variable — we choose $\psi = -\zeta$, while they choose $\zeta_D = \zeta + \zeta^2$, as defined, for example, in Ref. [41]. Applying this transformation to the general solution in terms of transfer functions, we find

$$X(\tau,k) = \mathcal{T}^{(1)}\psi^{0}(k) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{k_{1},k_{2}}\mathcal{T}^{(2)}\psi^{0}(k_{1})\psi^{0}(k_{2})$$
(A.21)

$$= -\mathcal{T}^{(1)}\zeta_D^0(k) + \frac{1}{2}\int_{k_1,k_2} \left(2\mathcal{T}^{(1)} + \mathcal{T}^{(2)}\right)\zeta_D^0(k_1)\zeta_D^0(k_2), \qquad (A.22)$$

which shows that, in terms of ζ_D , the second order transfer functions receive an extra contribution of twice the linear transfer function. This is exactly the difference we find between our results and those of Refs. [28, 30], confirming the match between all results. Care must be taken, however, when these results are applied to situations in which one assumes the initial conditions to be Gaussian. In that case, one must make clear which of the variables has that property, since should ζ_D be Gaussian, ζ will not be and vice versa.

A.2 Pure cold dark matter isocurvature mode

$$\begin{split} \psi &= \left(-\frac{5(15+4R_{\nu})^2}{64(15+2R_{\nu})^2} R_c^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{8325+2280R_{\nu}+272R_{\nu}^2}{64(15+2R_{\nu})^2} R_c^2 - \frac{4}{3} f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_c &= \left(-\frac{3(15+4R_{\nu})}{4(15+2R_{\nu})} R_c \omega\tau + \left(\frac{3(675+230R_{\nu}+8R_{\nu}^2)}{16(15+2R_{\nu})(25+2R_{\nu})} R_c + f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) (\omega\tau)^2 \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_b &= f_{b,P}^{cc} (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(\frac{(15+4R_{\nu})^2}{16(15+2R_{\nu})^2} R_c^2 + \frac{4}{3} f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_c &= \left(-\frac{5(1305+360R_{\nu}+32R_{\nu}^2)}{192(15+2R_{\nu})^2} R_c^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= v_{\nu} = \left(-\frac{2925+780R_{\nu}+64R_{\nu}^2}{64(15+2R_{\nu})^2} R_c^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{b,P}^{cc} \right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{cc} R_c^2 \omega^2 k^2 \tau^4 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0 \,, \end{split}$$

with,

$$\begin{split} f_{b,P}^{cc} = & \frac{3R_c^2}{128(25+2R_{\nu})(15+2R_{\nu})^2k^4} \left[(88875+42150R_{\nu}+6160R_{\nu}^2+256R_{\nu}^3)k^4 \right. \\ & \left. +15(-225+110R_{\nu}+16R_{\nu}^2) \left(3(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2-2k^2(k_1^2+k_2^2) \right) \right] \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{cc} = & - \frac{5(855+138R_{\nu}+4R_{\nu}^2)k^4+(825+70R_{\nu}-4R_{\nu}^2) \left(3(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2-2k^2(k_1^2+k_2^2) \right)}{48(15+2R_{\nu})^2(25+2R_{\nu})} \end{split}$$

.

A.3 Mixture of adiabatic and cold dark matter modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \omega \tau \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{75 + 8R_{\nu}(20 + 3R_{\nu})}{2(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} R_c - 3f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_c &= \left(-\frac{15}{15 + 4R_{\nu}} + \left(-\frac{3\left(75(1 + R_c) + 4R_{\nu}(20 + (35 + 8R_{\nu})R_c)\right)}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau \right) \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_b &= \left(-\frac{3(5 + 8R_{\nu})}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})} R_c + 3f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(-\frac{4R_{\nu}}{15 + 2R_{\nu}} R_c + 4f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ v_c &= \left(-\frac{(35 + 8R_{\nu})(k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2)}{24(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^2} + f_{v,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} = v_{\nu} = f_{v,P}^{c\psi} \omega \tau^2 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{c\psi} \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta_{c,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ with \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} f^{c\psi}_{\psi,P} = & \frac{R_c}{16(15+2R_\nu)(15+4R_\nu)k^4} \left[(375+315R_\nu+64R_\nu^2)k^4 \right. \\ & \left. -45(-5+R_\nu)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2 + 30k^2((-5+3R_\nu)k_1^2-(5+R_\nu)k_2^2) \right] \,, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} f_{\nu,P}^{c\psi} = & \frac{5R_c}{16(15+2R_\nu)(15+4R_\nu)k^4} \left[(135+19R_\nu)k^4 \\ & -9(-5+R_\nu)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2 + k^2((30+38R_\nu)k_1^2-2(45+13R_\nu)k_2^2) \right] \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{c\psi} = & \frac{R_c}{12(15+2R_\nu)(15+4R_\nu)k^4} \left[(75+4R_\nu)k^4 \\ & -3(-5+4R_\nu)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2 + k^2((-70+8R_\nu)k_1^2+2(25+4R_\nu)k_2^2) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

A.4 Pure baryon isocurvature mode

$$\begin{split} \psi &= \left(-\frac{5(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2}{64(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) (\omega \tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{8325 + 2280R_{\nu} + 272R_{\nu}^2}{64(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 - \frac{4}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) (\omega \tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_c &= f_{c,P}^{bb} (\omega \tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_b &= \left(-\frac{3(15 + 4R_{\nu})}{4(15 + 2R_{\nu})} R_b \omega \tau + \left(\frac{3(675 + 230R_{\nu} + 8R_{\nu}^2)}{16(15 + 2R_{\nu})(25 + 2R_{\nu})} R_b + f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) (\omega \tau)^2 \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(\frac{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2}{16(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 + \frac{4}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) (\omega \tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_c &= \left(-\frac{5(1305 + 360R_{\nu} + 32R_{\nu}^2)}{192(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(-\frac{3825 - 1905R_{\nu} - 700R_{\nu}^2 - 64R_{\nu}^3}{64R_{\gamma}(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_{\nu} &= \left(-\frac{2925 + 780R_{\nu} + 64R_{\nu}^2}{64(15 + 2R_{\nu})^2} R_b^2 + \frac{1}{3} f_{c,P}^{bb} \right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{cc} R_b^2 \omega^2 k^2 \tau^4 \delta_{0,k_1}^0 \delta_{b,k_2}^0 \,, \end{split}$$

$$f^{bb}_{c,P} = \frac{R^2_b}{R^2_c} f^{cc}_{b,P} \, .$$

A.5 Mixture of baryon and cold dark matter modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{bc}(\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{3(1275 - 40R_\nu - 16R_\nu^2}{64(15 + 2R_\nu)^2} R_b R_c - 4f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_c &= \left[-3R_b \frac{15 + 4R_\nu}{15 + 2R_\nu} \omega\tau + \left(f_b^{bc}(R_b) + 3f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) (\omega\tau)^2\right] \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_b &= \left[-3R_c \frac{15 + 4R_\nu}{15 + 2R_\nu} \omega\tau + \left(f_b^{bc}(R_c) + 3f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) (\omega\tau)^2\right] \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(-\frac{3(15 + 4R_\nu)^2}{8(15 + 2R_\nu)^2} R_b R_c + 4f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) (\omega\tau)^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_c &= \left(-\frac{5(315 - 8R_\nu^2)}{96(15 + 2R_\nu)^2} R_b R_c + f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(-\frac{(1125 - 750R_\nu - 94R_\nu^2 + 8R_\nu^3)k^2 - (15 + 2R_\nu)^2(k_1^2 - k_2^2)}{32R_\gamma(15 + 2R_\nu)^2k^2} R_b R_c + f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_\nu &= \left(-\frac{450 + 45R_\nu - 4R_\nu^2}{16(15 + 2R_\nu)^2} R_b R_c + f_{\psi,P}^{bc}\right) \omega^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{bc} R_b^2 \omega^2 k^2 \tau^4 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi,P}^{bc} &= -\frac{R_b R_c}{128(25+2R_\nu)(15+2R_\nu)^2 k^4} \left[(-32625-7650R_\nu+240R_\nu^2+64R_\nu^3)k^4 \right. \\ &\left. -15(-225+110R_\nu+16R_\nu^2) \left(3(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2-2k^2(k_1^2+k_2^2) \right) \right] \,, \\ f_{\delta}^{bc}(R_x) &= \frac{3R_x \left(48375-5R_x(25+2R_\nu)(15+4R_\nu)^2+2R_\nu(13425+4R_\nu(545+24R_\nu)) \right) }{64(25+2R_\nu)(15+2R_\nu)^2} \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{bc} &= \frac{R_b R_c}{48(25+2R_\nu)(15+2R_\nu)^2 k^4} \left[5(855+138R_\nu+4R_\nu^2)k^4 \right. \\ &\left. -(-825-70R_\nu+4R_\nu^2) \left(3(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2-2k^2(k_1^2+k_2^2) \right) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

A.6 Mixture of adiabatic and baryon modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{b\psi} \omega \tau \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{75 + 8R_{\nu}(20 + 3R_{\nu})}{2(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} R_b - 3f_{\psi,P}^{c\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_c &= \left(-\frac{3(5 + 8R_{\nu})}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})} R_b + 3f_{\psi,P}^{b\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_b &= \left(-\frac{15}{15 + 4R_{\nu}} + \left(-\frac{3\left(75(1 + R_c) + 4R_{\nu}(20 + (35 + 8R_{\nu})R_b)\right)}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{b\psi} \right) \omega \tau \right) \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \delta_\nu = \left(-\frac{4R_{\nu}}{15 + 2R_{\nu}} R_c + 4f_{\psi,P}^{b\psi} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_c &= \left(-\frac{(35 + 8R_{\nu})(k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2)}{24(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^2} R_b + f_{\nu,P}^{b\psi} \right) \omega \tau^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= v_\nu = f_{\nu,P}^{b\psi} \omega \tau^2 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{b\psi} \omega k^2 \tau^3 \delta_{b,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0 \,, \end{split}$$

with,

$$\begin{split} f^{b\psi}_{\psi,P} = & \frac{R_b}{R_c} f^{c\psi}_{\psi,P} \,, \\ f^{b\psi}_{v,P} = & \frac{R_b}{R_c} f^{c\psi}_{v,P} \,, \\ f^{b\psi}_{\sigma,P} = & \frac{R_b}{R_c} f^{c\psi}_{\sigma,P} \,. \end{split}$$

A.7 Mixture of adiabatic and compensated modes

$$\delta_{c} = -\frac{R_{b}}{R_{c}}\delta_{b} = \left(-\frac{15}{15+4R_{\nu}} - \frac{15\left(15+16R_{\nu}\right)}{8(15+2R_{\nu})(15+4R_{\nu})}\omega\tau\right)\delta_{CI,k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0},$$
$$v_{\gamma b} = \frac{\left(k^{2}-k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2}\right)R_{c}}{96R_{\gamma}k^{2}}k_{2}^{2}\omega\tau^{4}\delta_{CI,k_{1}}^{0}\psi_{k_{2}}^{0}.$$
(A.28)

A.8 Pure neutrino density isocurvature mode

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{4R_{\nu}^2}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} - 2f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_c &= \delta_b = \left(\frac{15R_{\nu}^2}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \left(-\frac{8R_{\nu}(12 + 7R_{\nu})}{R_{\gamma}(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\nu &= \left(\frac{8R_{\nu}(15 + 7R_{\nu})}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ v_c &= \left(\frac{2R_{\nu}^2}{(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu}^2(233 + 8R_{\nu}(13 + 3R_{\nu}))}{4R_{\gamma}^2(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ v_\nu &= \left(\frac{3(75 + 8R_{\nu}(5 + R_{\nu}))}{4(15 + 4R_{\nu})^2} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} \right) \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu\nu}(k\tau)^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{\nu,k_2}^0, \end{split}$$

with,

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\nu} &= -\frac{R_{\nu}^{2} \left((1-96R_{\nu})k^{4}+285(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-190k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2}) \right)}{16R_{\gamma}(15+4R_{\nu})^{2}k^{4}} \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu\nu} &= \frac{1}{48R_{\gamma}(15+4R_{\nu})^{2}k^{4}} \left[(-225-39R_{\nu}+188R_{\nu}^{2})k^{4} \right. \\ &\left. + (225-153R_{\nu}+4R_{\nu}^{2}) \left(3(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}-2k^{2}(k_{1}^{2}+k_{2}^{2}) \right) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

A.9 Mixture of adiabatic and neutrino modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \phi &= \left(-\frac{16R_{\nu}(5+R_{\nu})}{(15+4R_{\nu})^2} + 2f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_c &= \delta_b = \left(\frac{3R_{\nu}(5+8R_{\nu})}{(15+4R_{\nu})^2} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\gamma &= \left(\frac{4R_{\nu}(75+4R_{\nu}(7-2R_{\nu}))}{R_{\gamma}(15+4R_{\nu})^2} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \delta_\nu &= \left(-\frac{4(75+4R_{\nu}(5-2R_{\nu}))}{(15+4R_{\nu})^2} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ v_c &= f_{\nu,P}^{\nu\psi} \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu}(k^2+k_1^2-k_2^2)}{4R_{\gamma}k^2} + f_{\nu,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ v_\nu &= \left(-\frac{k^2+k_1^2-k_2^2}{4k^2} + f_{\nu,P}^{\nu\psi} \right) \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \\ \sigma_\nu &= f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu\psi}(k\tau)^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \psi_{k_2}^0, \end{split}$$

with,

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi,P}^{\nu\psi} &= \frac{R_{\nu} \left((-55-32R_{\nu})k^4 + 45(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 + 10k^2(-7k_1^2 + k_2^2) \right)}{4(15+4R_{\nu})^2 k^4} \,, \\ f_{\nu,P}^{\nu\psi} &= \frac{R_{\nu} \left((85+16R_{\nu})k^4 + 45(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 + 2k^2((-5+8R_{\nu})k_1^2 - (25+8R_{\nu})k_2^2) \right)}{4(15+4R_{\nu})^2 k^4} \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu\psi} &= -\frac{1}{4(15+4R_{\nu})^2 k^4} \left[(45+4R_{\nu})k^4 - 3(5+4R_{\nu})(k_1^2 - k_2^2)^2 \right. \\ &\qquad \qquad + k^2((-30+8R_{\nu})k_1^2 + 2(25+4R_{\nu})k_2^2) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

A.10 Mixture of dark matter and neutrino modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu} R_c (105 + 8R_{\nu})}{4(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} - 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_c &= \left(\frac{3R_{\nu}}{15 + 4R_{\nu}} + \left(\frac{3R_{\nu} (5R_b (15 + 4R_{\nu}) - 105 - 16R_{\nu})}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau \right) \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_b &= \left(-\frac{15R_{\nu} R_c}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_{\gamma} &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu} R_c (9 + 10R_{\nu})}{2R_{\gamma} (15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_{\nu} &= \left(-\frac{5R_c (3 + 2R_{\nu})}{2(15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \delta_{\nu} &= \left(-\frac{R_c \left((45 + 8R_{\nu})k^2 + (45 + 16R_{\nu})(k_1^2 - k_2^2) \right)}{96(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^2} + f_{\nu,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(-\frac{R_c (k^2 + k_1^2 - k_2^2)}{32R_{\gamma}k^2} + f_{\nu,P}^{\nu c} \right) \omega \tau^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_{\nu} &= f_{\nu,P}^{\nu c} \omega \tau^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ v_{\nu} &= f_{\nu,P}^{\nu c} (k\tau)^2 \delta_{\nu,k_1}^0 \delta_{c,k_2}^0, \\ \end{array}$$

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} = & \frac{3R_{\nu}R_{c}}{64(15+2R_{\nu})^{2}(15+4R_{\nu})k^{4}} \left[(975+550R_{\nu}+64R_{\nu}^{2})k^{4} \\ & -15(135+22R_{\nu})(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}+10k^{2}((105+26R_{\nu})k_{1}^{2}+3(55+6R_{\nu})k_{2}^{2}) \right] \,, \\ f_{\nu,P}^{\nu c} = & -\frac{15R_{c}}{64(15+2R_{\nu})^{2}(15+4R_{\nu})k^{4}} \left[3(-150+55R_{\nu}+14R_{\nu}^{2})k^{4} \\ & + 3R_{\nu}(135+22R_{\nu})(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2} \\ & -2k^{2}(15(15+11R_{\nu}+2R_{\nu}^{2})k_{1}^{2}+(-225+105R_{\nu}+14R_{\nu}^{2})k_{2}^{2}) \right] \,, \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu c} = & -\frac{R_{c}}{48(15+2R_{\nu})^{2}(15+4R_{\nu})k^{4}} \left[3(-1125-150R_{\nu}+8R_{\nu}^{2})(k^{4}+(k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})^{2}) \\ & -2k^{2}((-675-210R_{\nu}+8R_{\nu}^{2})k_{1}^{2}+(-1575-90R_{\nu}+8R_{\nu}^{2})k_{2}^{2}) \right] \,. \end{split}$$

A.11 Mixture of baryon and neutrino modes

$$\begin{split} \psi &= f_{\psi,P}^{\nu c} \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \phi &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu} R_{b} (105 + 8R_{\nu})}{4(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} - 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{c} &= \left(-\frac{15R_{\nu} R_{b}}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{b} &= \left(\frac{3R_{\nu}}{15 + 4R_{\nu}} + \left(-\frac{3R_{\nu}(5R_{b}(15 + 4R_{\nu}) + 30 - 4R_{\nu})}{8(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})} + 3f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau \right) \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\gamma} &= \left(\frac{R_{\nu} R_{b}(9 + 10R_{\nu})}{2R_{\gamma}(15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu} &= \left(-\frac{5R_{b}(3 + 2R_{\nu})}{2(15 + 2R_{\nu})} + 4f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{c} &= \left(-\frac{R_{b}R_{\nu} \left(5(21 + 4R_{\nu})k^{2} + 2(15 + 2R_{\nu})(k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2}) \right)}{12(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^{2}} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\gamma b} &= \left(f_{\nu,P}^{\nu b} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\nu} &= \left(-\frac{3R_{b} \left((2R_{\nu}(35 + 8R_{\nu}) - 75)k^{2} - 5(15 + 2R_{\nu})(k_{1}^{2} - k_{2}^{2}) \right)}{32(15 + 2R_{\nu})(15 + 4R_{\nu})k^{2}} + f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} \right) \omega \tau^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \sigma_{\nu} &= f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu b} (k\tau)^{2} \delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0} \delta_{b,k_{2}}^{0}, \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} f_{\psi,P}^{\nu b} = & \frac{3R_b R_\nu}{64(15+2R_\nu)^2(15+4R_\nu)k^4} \left[(975+550R_\nu+64R_\nu^2)k^4 \\ & -15(135+22R_\nu)(k_1^2-k_2^2)^2+10k^2((105+26R_\nu)k_1^2+3(55+6R_\nu)k_2^2) \right] \,, \\ f_{\nu,P}^{\nu b} = & -\frac{R_b R_\nu((1200+R_\nu(2R_\nu(65+24R_\nu)-409))k^2-(15+2R_\nu)(7R_\nu-64)(k_1^2-k_2^2))}{32R_\gamma^2(15+2R_\nu)(15+4R_\nu)k^2} \\ f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu b} = & \frac{R_b}{R_c} f_{\sigma,P}^{\nu c} \,. \end{split}$$

A.12 Mixture of compensated and neutrino modes

$$\begin{split} \psi^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(25+2R_{\nu})}{192R_{\gamma}(75+4R_{\nu})} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \phi^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(25-2R_{\nu})}{192R_{\gamma}(75+4R_{\nu})} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{c}^{(2)} &= -\frac{R_{b}}{R_{c}}\delta_{b}^{(2)} = \left(\frac{3R_{\nu}}{15+4R_{\nu}} + \frac{3R_{\nu}(-15+2R_{\nu})}{4(15+2R_{\nu})(15+4R_{\nu})}\omega\tau\right)\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\gamma}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(175-15R_{\nu}-2R_{\nu})}{48R_{\gamma}^{2}(75+4R_{\nu})} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ \delta_{\nu}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(25+2R_{\nu})}{48R_{\gamma}(75+4R_{\nu})} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{3}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\gamma b}^{(2)} &= \frac{3R_{\nu}R_{c}(k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})}{32R_{\gamma}^{2}k^{2}}\omega\tau^{2}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{\nu}^{(2)} &= -\frac{25R_{\nu}R_{c}}{384R_{\gamma}^{2}} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{4}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}, \\ v_{c}^{(2)} &= \frac{R_{\nu}R_{c}(25-2R_{\nu})}{960R_{\gamma}(75+4R_{\nu})} (k^{2}+k_{1}^{2}-k_{2}^{2})\omega\tau^{4}\delta_{\nu,k_{1}}^{0}\delta_{CI,k_{2}}^{0}. \end{split}$$

B Liouville equation in terms of brightness tensors

In this appendix we derive the Liouville equation (collisionless Boltzmann equation) for neutrinos at second order in cosmological perturbation theory, in synchronous gauge, and define the different moments of the distribution function and the method to obtain evolution equations for each of them in real space. We follow the notation and conventions of Ref. [30], except where indicated.

We are interested here in the evolution of neutrinos after decoupling, i.e., after collisions have become negligible. Then, the Boltzmann equation reduces to the Liouville equation:

$$\frac{df}{d\lambda} = 0, \qquad (B.1)$$

in which f is the distribution function for neutrinos and λ is the affine parameter labelling the geodesics followed by the neutrinos.

We begin by defining a tetrad basis, which will make some calculations easier. In general, it is defined such that the metric is the Minkowski metric η_{ab} , when evaluated in this basis:

$$g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}_{\underline{a}}e^{\nu}_{\underline{b}} = \eta_{\underline{a}\underline{b}} \,. \tag{B.2}$$

The components of the basis vectors, $e_{\underline{a}}^{\mu}$, then represent all the information included in the metric. There are, however, more degrees of freedom in the tetrad components (16) than in the metric (10) and the remaining ones represent 3 Lorentz boosts and 3 rotations. In order to fix the ambiguity in the choice of frame, we set $e_{\underline{0}}^{i} = 0$ and $e_{\underline{i}}^{j} = e_{j}^{i}$ [30]. In synchronous

gauge, the remaining components are given by

$$e_{\underline{0}}^{0} = \frac{1}{a}, \qquad e_{\overline{0}}^{0} = a,$$
 (B.3)

$$e_{\underline{i}}^{0} = 0, \qquad e_{\overline{i}}^{0} = 0,$$
(B.5)

$$e_{\underline{i}}^{j} = \frac{1}{a} \left[\delta_{i}^{j} - C_{i}^{j} + \frac{3}{2} C_{i}^{k} C_{k}^{j} \right], \qquad e_{\overline{i}}^{j} = a \left[\delta_{i}^{j} + C_{i}^{j} - \frac{1}{2} C_{i}^{k} C_{k}^{j} \right].$$
(B.6)

We use this basis to parametrize the 4-momentum vector as

$$p^{\underline{a}} = (p, pn^{i}), \qquad (B.7)$$

in which we assumed neutrinos to be massless and we defined the magnitude of the momentum, p, and the direction of propagation, n^i . As with any other vector, the components of the 4-momentum in the coordinate basis are related to those in the tetrad basis via $p^{\mu} = e^{\mu}_{\underline{a}} p^{\underline{a}}$. Using this basis, we are now able to write the Liouville equation by expanding the total derivative:

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial \tau} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial x^{i}} \frac{dx^{i}}{d\tau} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial p} \frac{dp}{d\tau} + \frac{\partial f}{\partial n^{i}} \frac{dn^{i}}{d\tau} = 0.$$
(B.8)

Using the definition of the 4-momentum we find

$$\frac{dx^i}{d\tau} = \frac{p^i}{p^0} = \left(\delta^i_j - C^i_{\ j}\right) n^j \,. \tag{B.9}$$

From the geodesic equation, we get

$$\frac{1}{p}\frac{dp}{d\tau} = -\left[\mathcal{H}\delta_{kl} + C'_{kl} - C^{i}_{\ k}C'_{il} - C^{i}_{\ l}C'_{ik}\right]n^{k}n^{l}, \qquad (B.10)$$

and

$$\frac{dn^{i}}{d\tau} = -\left(\delta^{ik} - n^{i}n^{k}\right)\left[C_{kl}^{\prime}n^{l} + \psi_{,k}\right].$$
(B.11)

We also integrate the Liouville equation, Eq. (B.8), in the momentum magnitude p and rewrite the equation in terms of the brightness fluctuation Δ , defined by

$$\Delta(\tau, \vec{x}, \vec{n}) = \frac{\int dp \, p^3(f(\tau, \vec{x}, p, \vec{n}) - \bar{f}(\tau, p))}{\int dp \, p^3 \bar{f}(\tau, p)} \,, \tag{B.12}$$

where \bar{f} is the background neutrino distribution function. The momentum integrated Liouville equation in synchronous gauge is therefore given by

$$\Delta' + \partial_i \Delta \left(\delta^i_j - C^i_{\ j} \right) n^j + 4(1 + \Delta) n^k n^l \left(C'_{kl} - C^i_{\ k} C'_{il} - C^i_{\ l} C'_{ik} \right)$$

$$- \frac{\partial \Delta}{\partial n^i} \left(\delta^{ik} - n^i n^k \right) \left[C'_{kl} n^l + \psi_{,k} \right] = 0.$$
(B.13)

This is a partial differential equation in τ , x^i and n^i . In order to simplify its solution, we integrate out its angular dependence. This procedure will generate a set of equations, each of which obtained by a different weight in the angular integral. The most common way to do this is to project the Liouville equation in multipole space as is done in Ref. [30]. In this

work, however, we choose to do something slightly different, and introduce instead a tensorial projection. The main difference is that, instead of using spherical harmonics as weights, we use the direction vector n^i in different powers. To clarify, the projectors being used here to extract each equation are given by

$$\mathcal{P}_N^{i_1\cdots i_N} = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} n^{i_1}\cdots n^{i_N} \,, \tag{B.14}$$

in which the integral is over all possible angular directions and the measure, $\frac{d\Omega}{4\pi}$, is such that $\int \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} = 1$. The application of these projectors to the brightness fluctuation generates the brightness tensors, shown here up to rank 3

$$\Delta_0 = \mathcal{P}_0[\Delta] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} \Delta(\tau, \vec{x}, \vec{n}) \,, \tag{B.15}$$

$$\Delta^{i} = \mathcal{P}_{1}^{i}[\Delta] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} n^{i} \Delta(\tau, \vec{x}, \vec{n}) , \qquad (B.16)$$

$$\Delta^{ij} = \mathcal{P}_2^{ij}[\Delta] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} n^i n^j \Delta(\tau, \vec{x}, \vec{n}) \,, \tag{B.17}$$

$$\Delta^{ijk} = \mathcal{P}_3^{ijk}[\Delta] = \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} n^i n^j n^k \Delta(\tau, \vec{x}, \vec{n}) \,. \tag{B.18}$$

Note that these tensors appear to describe more degrees of freedom than the usual multipoles. For example, Δ^{ij} is a symmetric 3-tensor, thus having in total 6 degrees of freedom, while the $\ell = 2$ multipoles only represent $2\ell + 1 = 5$ degrees of freedom. This discrepancy can be understood by noticing that the brightness tensors are related amongst each other. The extra d.o.f. in this example is actually in the trace of Δ^{ij} , which is obviously equal to Δ_0 , since $n_i n^i = 1$. Therefore, it is the traceless part of each of these tensors that includes the same information as the usual multipoles. For that reason, it is useful to also define traceless brightness tensors:

$$\Delta_T^{ij} = \Delta^{ij} - \frac{1}{3} \delta^{ij} \Delta_0 \,, \tag{B.19}$$

$$\Delta_T^{ijk} = \Delta^{ijk} - \frac{3}{5} \delta^{(ij} \Delta^{k)} , \qquad (B.20)$$

$$\Delta_T^{ijkl} = \Delta^{ijkl} - \frac{6}{7} \delta^{(ij} \Delta_T^{kl)} - \frac{1}{5} \delta^{(ij} \delta^{kl)} \Delta_0 , \qquad (B.21)$$

$$\Delta_T^{ijklm} = \Delta^{ijklm} - \frac{10}{9} \delta^{(ij} \Delta_T^{klm)} - \frac{3}{7} \delta^{(ij} \delta^{kl} \Delta^{m)} .$$
(B.22)

These are the tensors for which we are interested in finding evolution equations. In order to do that, we simply project the momentum integrated Liouville equation, Eq. (B.13), with the projectors \mathcal{P}_N defined in Eq. (B.14). For each value of N this procedure will result in an evolution equation for the corresponding brightness tensor of rank N. Obtaining the equations for the traceless tensors is straightforward by subtracting the corresponding trace equation. Eq. (2.31), was obtained through this method and using it for N = 0 and N = 1 would reproduce the conservation of the stress-energy tensor for neutrinos. This can be seen by noting that the relation between the stress-energy tensor and the distribution function is given by

$$T^{\underline{a}}_{\underline{b}} = \int \mathrm{d}^3 p \frac{p^{\underline{a}} p_{\underline{b}}}{p} f \,. \tag{B.23}$$

This relation was used to derive Eqs. (2.32)–(2.34), describing the lowest rank brightness tensors in terms of the perturbed stress-energy tensor components in the coordinate basis. We now show the explicit version of that relation, specialising only to the scalar parts of brightness tensors:

$$\Delta_0 = \delta_{\nu} + \frac{4}{3} v_{\nu,i} v_{\nu}^{,i} \,, \tag{B.24}$$

$$\nabla^2 \Delta_1 = \frac{4}{3} \nabla^2 v_{\nu} + \partial_i \left[\left(\frac{4}{3} (\delta_{\nu} - \psi) \delta_j^i + \frac{4}{3} E_{,j}^{,i} + \frac{1}{\rho_{\nu}} (\Pi_{\nu,j}^{,i} - \frac{1}{3} \delta_j^i \nabla^2 \Pi_{\nu}) \right) v_{\nu}^{,j} \right], \qquad (B.25)$$

$$\nabla^{2}\nabla^{2}\Delta_{2} = -2\nabla^{2}\sigma_{\nu} + \partial_{i}\partial^{j} \left[2v_{\nu,j}v_{\nu}^{,i} - \frac{2}{3}v_{\nu,k}v_{\nu}^{,k}\delta_{j}^{i} + \frac{6}{\rho_{\nu}}\psi\left(\Pi_{\nu,j}^{,i} - \frac{1}{3}\delta_{j}^{i}\nabla^{2}\Pi_{\nu}\right) \right]$$
(B.26)

$$-\frac{1}{\rho_{\nu}}\left(\frac{3}{2}\Pi_{\nu,jk}E^{,ki}+\frac{3}{2}\Pi_{\nu,k}^{,i}E^{,k}_{,j}-\nabla^{2}\Pi_{\nu}E^{,i}_{,j}+\left(\frac{1}{3}\nabla^{2}\Pi_{\nu}\nabla^{2}E-\Pi_{\nu,kl}E^{,kl}\right)\delta_{j}^{i}\right)\right].$$

The scalar variables denoted above by Δ_N are the scalar parts of the brightness tensors of rank N. They are obtained by performing the scalar-vector-tensor decomposition of those tensors. We now describe that decomposition for the brightness tensors up to rank 3, which are used in the main text. For the rank 1 and 2 tensors, we use the same decomposition as for the velocity and anisotropic stress, respectively:

$$\Delta^i = \Delta_1^{,i} + \Delta_{1v}^i \,, \tag{B.27}$$

$$\Delta_T^{ij} = \Delta_2^{,ij} - \frac{1}{3}\delta^{ij}\nabla^2\Delta_2 + \Delta_{2v}^{(i,j)} + \Delta_{2t}^{ij}.$$
 (B.28)

The labels v and t denote the transverse vector and transverse and traceless tensor parts. As for the rank 3 tensor, there are, in total, 7 degrees of freedom split into one scalar, one vector, one rank 2 tensor and one rank 3 tensor. They are defined via

$$\Delta_T^{ijk} = \Delta_3^{,ijk} - \frac{3}{5}\delta^{(ij}\nabla^2\Delta_3^{,k)} + \Delta_{3v}^{(i,jk)} - \frac{1}{5}\delta^{(ij}\nabla^2\Delta_{3v}^{k)} + \Delta_{3t}^{(ij,k)} + \Delta_{3T}^{ijk}.$$
 (B.29)

The functional form of this splitting was derived by writing the most general expression including all the degrees of freedom and then applying the traceless and symmetric conditions in all indices to find the appropriate coefficient values.

Finally, we address the issues related to the projection of the distribution function in terms of brightness tensors and its relation to the more common projection in multipole space. We aim here to find a relation between the two so that our results may be translatable to that formalism and vice versa.

We begin with the definition of the multipole projection of the brightness fluctuation, Δ :

$$\Delta_{\ell m} = i^{\ell} \sqrt{\frac{2\ell+1}{4\pi}} \int \mathrm{d}\Omega Y^*_{\ell,m} \Delta \,, \tag{B.30}$$

in which $Y_{\ell,m}^*$ is the complex conjugate of the spherical harmonic $Y_{\ell,m}$. To explicitly demonstrate the connection to our formalism, we apply the appropriate transformations to our definitions to obtain a new version in terms of the multipole decomposition. Since we are only interested in the scalar variables, we begin by taking N spatial derivatives in a rank N brightness tensor to extract its scalar part. In Fourier space, this is equivalent to contracting those tensors N times with ik^i . For the example case of rank 1, this results in

$$ik_i\Delta^i = i \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\Omega}{4\pi} k_i n^i \Delta \,. \tag{B.31}$$

By definition of the scalar product we have $k_i n^i = k \cos \theta$ and it can be easily verified that $\cos \theta \propto Y_{10}$. After some algebra, we can transform Eq. (B.31) into the form of Eq. (B.30) for $\ell = 1$ and m = 0, thus showing that

$$\Delta_{10} = -3k\Delta_1 \,. \tag{B.32}$$

Generalising this procedure for higher ℓ and correspondingly higher rank tensors is conceptually straightforward and it can be shown that the general relation is simply given by

$$\Delta_{\ell 0} = (-1)^{\ell} (2\ell + 1) k^{\ell} \Delta_{\ell} \,. \tag{B.33}$$

With this simple relation, the interested reader can translate all our results into the multipole formalism with ease.

References

- Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XX. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A20, [arXiv:1502.02114], [doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201525898].
- [2] SDSS Collaboration, M. Tegmark et al., The 3-D power spectrum of galaxies from the SDSS, Astrophys. J. 606 (2004) 702–740, [arXiv:astro-ph/0310725], [doi:10.1086/382125].
- [3] 2dFGRS Collaboration, S. Cole et al., The 2dF Galaxy Redshift Survey: Power-spectrum analysis of the final dataset and cosmological implications, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 362 (2005) 505–534, [arXiv:astro-ph/0501174], [doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2005.09318.x].
- M. Beltran, J. Garcia-Bellido, J. Lesgourgues, and A. Riazuelo, Bounds on CDM and neutrino isocurvature perturbations from CMB and LSS data, Phys. Rev. D70 (2004) 103530, [arXiv:astro-ph/0409326], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.70.103530].
- Planck Collaboration, P. A. R. Ade et al., Planck 2015 results. XVII. Constraints on primordial non-Gaussianity, Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A17, [arXiv:1502.01592], [doi:10.1051/0004-6361/201525836].
- [6] D. H. Lyth and D. Wands, Generating the curvature perturbation without an inflaton, Phys. Lett. B524 (2002) 5–14, [arXiv:hep-ph/0110002], [doi:10.1016/S0370-2693(01)01366-1].
- [7] D. H. Lyth, C. Ungarelli, and D. Wands, *The Primordial density perturbation in the curvaton scenario*, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 023503, [arXiv:astro-ph/0208055],
 [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.67.023503].
- [8] C. Gordon and A. Lewis, Observational constraints on the curvaton model of inflation, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 123513, [arXiv:astro-ph/0212248], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.67.123513].
- [9] A. D. Linde, Generation of isothermal density perturbations in the inflationary universe, JETP Lett. 40 (1984) 1333–1336. [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz.40,496(1984)].
- [10] D. Langlois, Correlated adiabatic and isocurvature perturbations from double inflation, Phys. Rev. D59 (1999) 123512, [arXiv:astro-ph/9906080], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.59.123512].
- D. Grin, O. Dore, and M. Kamionkowski, Compensated Isocurvature Perturbations and the Cosmic Microwave Background, Phys. Rev. D84 (2011) 123003, [arXiv:1107.5047], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.84.123003].

- [12] C. He, D. Grin, and W. Hu, Compensated isocurvature perturbations in the curvaton model, Phys. Rev. D92 (2015), no. 6 063018, [arXiv:1505.00639], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.063018].
- [13] C. H. Heinrich, D. Grin, and W. Hu, Lensing Bias to CMB Measurements of Compensated Isocurvature Perturbations, Phys. Rev. D94 (2016), no. 4 043534, [arXiv:1605.08439], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.94.043534].
- [14] J. Valiviita, Power Spectra Based Planck Constraints on Compensated Isocurvature, and Forecasts for LiteBIRD and CORE Space Missions, JCAP 1704 (2017), no. 04 014, [arXiv:1701.07039], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2017/04/014].
- [15] A. D. Linde and V. F. Mukhanov, Nongaussian isocurvature perturbations from inflation, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) R535–R539, [arXiv:astro-ph/9610219], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.56.R535].
- [16] D. Langlois and B. van Tent, Isocurvature modes in the CMB bispectrum, JCAP 1207 (2012) 040, [arXiv:1204.5042], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2012/07/040].
- [17] C. Hikage, M. Kawasaki, T. Sekiguchi, and T. Takahashi, Extended analysis of CMB constraints on non-Gaussianity in isocurvature perturbations, JCAP 1303 (2013) 020, [arXiv:1212.6001], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2013/03/020].
- [18] Y. Suto, K. Sato, and H. Kodama, Dynamical Evolution of Isothermal Density Perturbations in the Early Universe, Prog. Theor. Phys. 73 (1985) 1151, [doi:10.1143/PTP.73.1151].
- [19] H. Kodama and M. Sasaki, Evolution of Isocurvature Perturbations. 1. Photon Baryon Universe, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A1 (1986) 265, [doi:10.1142/S0217751X86000137].
- [20] H. Kodama and M. Sasaki, Evolution of Isocurvature Perturbations. 2. Radiation Dust Universe, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A2 (1987) 491, [doi:10.1142/S0217751X8700020X].
- [21] M. Bucher, K. Moodley, and N. Turok, The General primordial cosmic perturbation, Phys. Rev. D62 (2000) 083508, [arXiv:astro-ph/9904231], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.62.083508].
- [22] F. Finelli, F. Paci, and D. Paoletti, The Impact of Stochastic Primordial Magnetic Fields on the Scalar Contribution to Cosmic Microwave Background Anisotropies, Phys. Rev. D78 (2008) 023510, [arXiv:0803.1246], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.78.023510].
- [23] D. Paoletti, F. Finelli, and F. Paci, The full contribution of a stochastic background of magnetic fields to CMB anisotropies, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 396 (2009) 523–534, [arXiv:0811.0230], [doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2009.14727.x].
- [24] J. R. Shaw and A. Lewis, Massive Neutrinos and Magnetic Fields in the Early Universe, Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 043517, [arXiv:0911.2714], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.81.043517].
- [25] U. Seljak and M. Zaldarriaga, A Line of sight integration approach to cosmic microwave background anisotropies, Astrophys. J. 469 (1996) 437–444, [arXiv:astro-ph/9603033], [doi:10.1086/177793].
- [26] A. Lewis, A. Challinor, and A. Lasenby, Efficient computation of CMB anisotropies in closed FRW models, Astrophys. J. 538 (2000) 473–476, [arXiv:astro-ph/9911177], [doi:10.1086/309179].
- [27] J. Lesgourgues, The Cosmic Linear Anisotropy Solving System (CLASS) I: Overview, arXiv:1104.2932.
- [28] C. Pitrou, J.-P. Uzan, and F. Bernardeau, The cosmic microwave background bispectrum from the non-linear evolution of the cosmological perturbations, JCAP 1007 (2010) 003, [arXiv:1003.0481], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2010/07/003].
- [29] G. W. Pettinari, C. Fidler, R. Crittenden, K. Koyama, and D. Wands, The intrinsic bispectrum of the Cosmic Microwave Background, JCAP 1304 (2013) 003, [arXiv:1302.0832], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2013/04/003].
- [30] G. W. Pettinari, The intrinsic bispectrum of the Cosmic Microwave Background. PhD thesis, Portsmouth U., ICG, 2013-09. arXiv:1405.2280.

- [31] E. Fenu, C. Pitrou, and R. Maartens, The seed magnetic field generated during recombination, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 414 (2011) 2354–2366, [arXiv:1012.2958], [doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2011.18554.x].
- [32] S. Maeda, K. Takahashi, and K. Ichiki, Primordial magnetic fields generated by the non-adiabatic fluctuations at pre-recombination era, JCAP 1111 (2011) 045, [arXiv:1109.0691], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2011/11/045].
- [33] E. Nalson, A. J. Christopherson, and K. A. Malik, Effects of non-linearities on magnetic field generation, JCAP 1409 (2014) 023, [arXiv:1312.6504], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2014/09/023].
- [34] C. Fidler, G. Pettinari, and C. Pitrou, Precise numerical estimation of the magnetic field generated around recombination, Phys. Rev. D93 (2016), no. 10 103536, [arXiv:1511.07801], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.93.103536].
- [35] A. J. Christopherson, K. A. Malik, and D. R. Matravers, Vorticity generation at second order in cosmological perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D79 (2009) 123523, [arXiv:0904.0940], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.79.123523].
- [36] A. J. Christopherson, K. A. Malik, and D. R. Matravers, Estimating the amount of vorticity generated by cosmological perturbations in the early universe, Phys. Rev. D83 (2011) 123512, [arXiv:1008.4866], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.83.123512].
- [37] A. J. Christopherson and K. A. Malik, Can cosmological perturbations produce early universe vorticity?, Class. Quant. Grav. 28 (2011) 114004, [arXiv:1010.4885], [doi:10.1088/0264-9381/28/11/114004].
- [38] I. A. Brown, A. J. Christopherson, and K. A. Malik, The magnitude of the non-adiabatic pressure in the cosmic fluid, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 423 (2012) 1411–1415, [arXiv:1108.0639], [doi:10.1111/j.1365-2966.2012.20966.x].
- [39] P. Carrilho and R. H. Ribeiro, Quantum quenches during inflation, Phys. Rev. D95 (2017), no. 4 043516, [arXiv:1612.00035], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.95.043516].
- [40] K. A. Malik and D. Wands, Cosmological perturbations, Phys. Rept. 475 (2009) 1–51, [arXiv:0809.4944], [doi:10.1016/j.physrep.2009.03.001].
- [41] P. Carrilho and K. A. Malik, Vector and tensor contributions to the curvature perturbation at second order, JCAP 1602 (2016), no. 02 021, [arXiv:1507.06922], [doi:10.1088/1475-7516/2016/02/021].
- [42] G. F. R. Ellis, R. Maartens, and M. A. H. MacCallum, *Relativistic Cosmology*. Cambridge University Press, 2012.
- [43] H. Noh and J.-c. Hwang, Second-order perturbations of the friedmann world model, arXiv:astro-ph/0305123.
- [44] K. A. Malik, D. Wands, and C. Ungarelli, Large scale curvature and entropy perturbations for multiple interacting fluids, Phys. Rev. D67 (2003) 063516, [arXiv:astro-ph/0211602], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.67.063516].
- [45] J. M. Martín-García, xPerm: fast index canonicalization for tensor computer algebra, Computer Physics Communications 179 (Oct., 2008) 597–603, [arXiv:0803.0862], [doi:10.1016/j.cpc.2008.05.009].
- [46] C. Pitrou, X. Roy, and O. Umeh, xPand: An algorithm for perturbing homogeneous cosmologies, Class.Quant.Grav. 30 (2013) 165002, [arXiv:1302.6174], [doi:10.1088/0264-9381/30/16/165002].
- [47] K. A. Malik and D. R. Matravers, Comments on gauge-invariance in cosmology, Gen. Rel. Grav. 45 (2013) 1989–2001, [arXiv:1206.1478], [doi:10.1007/s10714-013-1573-2].
- [48] M. Bruni, S. Matarrese, S. Mollerach, and S. Sonego, Perturbations of space-time: Gauge

transformations and gauge invariance at second order and beyond, Class. Quant. Grav. 14 (1997) 2585–2606, [arXiv:gr-qc/9609040], [doi:10.1088/0264-9381/14/9/014].

 [49] L. R. W. Abramo, R. H. Brandenberger, and V. F. Mukhanov, The Energy - momentum tensor for cosmological perturbations, Phys. Rev. D56 (1997) 3248–3257, [arXiv:gr-qc/9704037], [doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.56.3248].